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For more information on BATM, please visit:

www.BATM.com

BATM has access to over 600 engineers and scientists through
BATM’s integrated research and development program between 
all its subsidiary companies.

BATM has offices in North America, Israel, Europe and the Far East.
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Developer and manufacturer of high quality sterilizers  and medical waste management

Diagnostic Equipment Distribution -  
We represent international leaders in their field 
of the in vitro diagnostic and analytical products 
in diagnostic services  such as:
hematology, hemostasis, clinical chemistry, immunology and microbiology

International IVD manufacturer and developper of in-vitro 
diagnostic systems and reagents to detect viral infections,  
to diagnose immune system diseases and  
measurement of human hormone responses

Our products include instruments and reagents  
for small to medium labs, blood banks and hospitals

We offers assistance and dedicated services 
for customised OEM production of IVD-products

Genomics and Bioinformatics Services:
- Geneticists and Clinicians
- Pharma and Biotech
- Personal Genetics

Pharmaceutical, Agricultural, Commercial waste solutions  
with Integrated Sterilizer and Shredder

Exclusive models of Steam Sterilizers for the medical and laboratory market

BATM Advanced Communications continues to lead 
the market in Metro Area Network Ethernet solutions. 

BATM Medical is a leader in providing  
cost effective diagnostic and solutions to SME laboratories.

MEDICAL DIVISION



UX- User experience and User interface for mobile app and web sites. 

Mobile-mobile development on iOs and Android. 

Web- Building digital brands and any web environment.

E-commerce- on line store, with real retail experience.

Cloud Networking

ATCA Solutions

Business Ethernet

Telecom Network Solutions

Cyber Security Solutions

Surveillance SolutionsMobile Backhaul

Animated clips-Illustration and after effects.

Online marketing - PPC, SEO, social media, content management

Automated testing-planning and development

Real time and embedded operating system

TELECOM DIVISION
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Financial Highlights

2014 2013 %

Revenue $109.2m $114.2m -4.38%

Gross profit $34.1m $39.6m -13.89%

Adjusted operating profit (loss)1 ($1.0m) $0.1m

Other operating expenses $1.7m $5.5m

Operating loss ($2.7)m ($5.4)m

Loss for the year ($3.5m) ($5.4m)

Loss per share (0.79)¢ (1.12)¢

Throughout this report:
1.  Excluding other operating expenses (including  amortization and impairment of other intangible assets).

2014 Cash 
and financial assets

$ 34.9
million

2014 Adjusted 
operating profit1

$ 1.0
million

2014 Revenue

$109.2  
million
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Strategic Report

On 1 January 2015, I assumed the role of Chairman from Mr. Peter Sheldon, BATM’s Chairman for the past 14 years. I would 
like to thank Mr. Sheldon for his outstanding contribution to BATM, the Board of Directors and to our Senior Executives.

2014 was a year in which we added managerial and technological capabilities to implement our business strategy. The 
Board of Directors have conducted, over the last few months, an in-depth analysis of BATM’s financial results for the past 
three years. The result of this review will enable us to deal with the rapid changes in our business environment, operate 
globally and achieve rapid growth for the next four years. The Board of Directors, together with Dr. Zvi Marom, BATM’s 
CEO, will focus on the following two business areas: 

Medical

In the Diagnostics business, our goal is for BATM to become integral to the diagnosis of disease in selected markets such 
as China, South America and Russia. BATM’s strategy is to focus on the development of solutions for small- and medium- 
sized laboratories, with a particular emphasis on private practice laboratories, including the supply of a broad range of 
Reagents. The Diagnostics operations are mainly conducted by Adaltis, which is located in Rome.

In the Sterilization and Distribution business, BATM’s focus is on the development of a service model for Medical Waste 
Solutions and the Integrated Sterilizer and Shredder (ISS), and to develop a distribution network for laboratories and 
hospitals. Our strategy is to expand the applications of the ISS for hospitals, agriculture and pharmaceutical plants. 
Currently, BATM markets these businesses in several regions, including North America, the Middle East and the Far East. 
The Sterilization operations are mainly conducted by Celitron, which is located in Hungary.

Telco Systems and Cyber Security Solutions

Four years ago we commenced the implementation of dramatic technological changes, which we expect to complete in 
2015. Currently, BATM’s strategy is to concentrate on addressing Service Provider challenges in Metro area and Network 
Ethernet Telecom systems, and to be a leading provider of access solutions. The Telco Business will focus on Tier 1 
customers.

As part of the Telco business, our R&D efforts are focused primarily on Cyber Security Solutions – with our CELARE business 
in order to leverage BATM’s technologies and capabilities.

We have established a highly capable global team of Senior Executives to execute on our strategy. I am fully confident 
that the ability of our managers at all levels, our R&D and our employees will enable us to achieve growth and profitability, 
increasing value to our shareholders. 

I would like to thank our CEO, Dr. Zvi Marom, and our directors for their contribution to the success of BATM, and our 
shareholders for their continued support. 

Gideon Chitayat
Chairman

Gideon Chitayat
Chairman

30 April 2015
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BATM’s main activities are the research and development, production and distribution of medical products, including 
laboratory diagnostics equipment, as well as research and development, production and marketing of data and 
telecommunication products in the field of metropolitan area networks. BATM has offices in North America, Israel, Europe 
and the Far East.

The results of the year are set out in the consolidated income statement. After reporting a $1.7 million amortisation of 
intangible assets for the year, we recorded a loss of $3.5million. 

BATM operates two divisions. The Medical division, which focuses on developing countries in Eastern Europe and Asia, 
is benefiting from the increase in investment in developing the health systems in these countries. The Telecom division 
mainly targets Tier 1 telecom operators in developed markets. This telecom industry is undergoing a transition to more 
cloud-based solutions and software defined products, and BATM’s Telecom division has shifted its product focus to address 
these trends.

Principal Activities and Review of the Business

Results 

Market Review

Hod-Hasharon, Israel Mansfield MA, USA

Guidonia di Montecelio, Rome, Italy

BATM offices:

Yokneam, Israel

Strategic Report
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BATM is a development and sales company based in Israel with overseas sales, manufacturing and development operations. 

BATM’s strategy is based on building two strong technology divisions - the Medical division and the Telecom division - into 
leading providers of the highest quality market innovation and cost effective products in their respective fields.

The Medical division is focused on becoming a leading provider of diagnostic laboratory equipment as well as a distributor 
of leading brands of other diagnostic equipment suppliers to emerging market countries. The most prominent countries 
for BATM are China, Russia, Mexico and Brazil, which have huge potential for upward growth. The division is built on high 
reliability, fast and easy to operate equipment for small diagnostic laboratories with an emphasis on emerging markets.

In addition, the division offers an innovative product to treat medical waste in laboratories and hospitals with unique 
patented technology. This technology has been used and recommended by the WHO (World Health Organization). The 
business remains focused on the treatment of medical and biological waste, based on unique patented technology, and 
the expansion of its OEM relationships. During the fourth quarter of 2014, it launched a new version of a smaller steriliser 
designed for dialysis centres and laboratories, and had already supplied 40 devices by the end of the year. In addition, 
during 2014, the Group continued to expand the applications of its biological waste solution, including for pharmaceutical 
plants and agricultural applications.

The Medical division’s products are highly sophisticated, environmental-friendly and very cost effective.

BATM Medical has partnerships with reagent manufacturers and academic institutions to develop an innovative, “one stop 
shop”, flexible offering to its customers. The Medical division announced some unique product offerings during 2014 and 
expects to offer several more in 2015. The business model includes selling instruments as well as associated reagents 
and consumables. In addition, the Distribution business of the Medical division re-sells other manufacturers’ instruments, 
reagents and other medical supplies. 

BATM is growing its Telecom networking division to be the worldwide leader of Carrier Ethernet and MPLS access solutions. 
The Company is servicing a wide need for networking access solutions to the ever-expanding mobile & cloud markets as 
well as the wireline infrastructure. 

The division is now working closely with customers and partners to define needs in cloud-based networks, Network Function 
Virtualization (NFV) and advanced access solutions. Several of these applications are already reaching the markets and are 
at the Proof-of-Concept phase with customers. The business model is based on selling a solution that combines integrated 
hardware and sophisticated software. The Group is expanding its investment in software-based products, which will result 
in higher volume of software licensing revenues in the coming years.

By investing and becoming a shareholder in IBC (Israel Broadband Company) and securing its first paying customers, 
together with Cisco Systems and the Israel Electric Company, the Group continued its active leadership in the consortium 
for the construction of a new nationwide fibre optic infrastructure network in Israel.

BATM’s cyber unit, CELARE, signed a collaboration agreement to integrate its cyber solution with the big data solution of 
Oracle, one of the world’s largest software companies. A pilot contract from a major customer was awarded at the end of 
July 2014 for the integrated solution, which aims to identify unknown network threats using big data analytics and machine 
learning processes.

Corporate Strategy and Business Model

Strategic Report
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BATM has several key performance measures used internally to monitor and challenge performance and to assist investment 
decisions. The most important performance indicators in the current and prior years are summarized as follows:

Risk management is currently reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Board as a whole.  

The Company has an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group 
that has been in place from 2011 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. Principal 
controls are managed by the executive Directors and key employees, including regular review by management and the 
Board of the operations and the financial statements of the Company.

The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring that the Company maintains adequate systems of internal control. To this 
end, in accordance with the Israeli Companies Law, the Company has appointed and retains the services of an independent 
qualified internal auditor. Each year, the Audit Committee reviews with the internal auditor potential risks and proposed 
plan for their scope of work. The Audit Committee usually selects each year at least two areas of the Company’s operations 
on which it requests the internal auditor to focus and prepare an internal audit report with recommendations. Following 
the completion of each report the internal auditor sends it to all the Directors and presents his findings to the Audit 
Committee.  The Audit Committee then reports to the Board on any major findings and recommendations from the internal 
auditor for improving controls and corporate responsibility. 

The key features of the financial controls of the Company include a comprehensive system of financial reporting, budgeting 
and forecasting, and clearly laid down accounting policies and procedures. The Board is furnished with detailed financial 
information on a monthly basis.

Key Performance Indicators

Risk Management and Internal Control

2014 2013 Change %

Revenue $109.2m $114.2m       -4.4

Gross profit margin 31.2% 34.7%       -3.5

R&D spend, net $8.7m $11.8m     -26.3

Cash and Financial Assets $34.9m $40.8m     -14.5

Earnings (loss) per share  (0.79)¢  (1.12)¢      29.4

Strategic Report

Management intends to continue to invest significantly in R&D and sales and marketing activities in order to support the 
organic growth of the business. In addition, management intends to make niche acquisitions to strengthen its position in the 
telecom and medical markets. The Medical division’s products are positioned to address the growing needs of developing 
markets. BATM usually competes with other mid-size manufacturers, but also sells some units under OEM agreements with 
leading vendors in the industry. The Telecom division is continuing to focus on the new strategy of concentrating on Tier 1 
clients, SDN (Software Driven Networks) and NFV (Network Function Virtualisation).

Future Developments
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The Group has recently entered the Medical sector  This is a new market in which the Group has relatively little experience. 
The success of the Group’s investments in this sector is thus uncertain with consequent risk to the amounts invested. In 
addition, this sector is highly regulated, with strict requirements as to ongoing compliance and quality control. A failure to 
comply with such requirements may lead to the Group suffering a loss of reputation, reduction in revenues or sanction by 
the appropriate regulatory authorities.

As the Group is involved in the development of new products and services, it is subject to the development risk inherent 
in such activity, including in particular the failure of products and services in development to proceed to completion and 
to the market. This includes the risk of failing key research and development hurdles such as clinical trials and regulatory 
authorisation.

The Group has made several acquisitions. Such growth in the Group carries increased demand for cash and resources in 
the Group’s business, not all of which may be capable of being adequately serviced. Furthermore, certain acquisitions have 
not reached one hundred per cent ownership of the relevant target companies, in some cases due to local regulatory 
requirements as to share ownership and structuring. As a result, certain companies in the Group have non-controlling 
interests, typically held by the local management of the subsidiaries. Relationships with these non-controlling interests 
are frequently key to the continued success of the relevant business and projects. They carry certain risks, including those 
inherent in diversified control in a trading business, for example that key business decisions favoured by the Group may not 
proceed to implementation, and the consequences of a breakdown of the cooperation between the Group as the majority 
holder and the local partner as the minority. 

Due to current global economic conditions, the Group’s diversified business activities are aimed at emerging markets which 
have significant upward potential, yet at the same time are subject to greater risks than more developed markets, including 
economic, political, social, legal and legislative risks. The Group’s business and consequently, its financial results and returns 
to investors, may be adversely affected by a decrease in demand in such emerging markets, which can typically be less easy 
to predict or manage than in more stable and developed economies. The political and socioeconomic stability of emerging 
markets is frequently lower than that seen in more established markets, and this carries the risk that the Group’s business 
and consequently, its financial results and returns to investors may be adversely affected by negative changes in conditions 
for business and investment, which may occur more frequently or with more severity than in more developed markets. 
BATM has exposure to material fluctuations in currencies since BATM sells in various different currency zones including USD, 
Euro, Romanian currency and Moldavian Lei. 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The main elements of internal control currently include:

�� Operating Controls: The identification and mitigation of major business risks on a daily basis is the responsibility of the 
executive Directors and senior management. Each business function within the Group maintains controls and procedures, as 
directed by senior management, appropriate to its own business environment while conforming to the Company’s standards 
and guidelines. These include procedures and guidelines to identify, evaluate the likelihood of and mitigate all types of risks 
on an ongoing basis.

�� Information and Communication: The Group operating procedures include a comprehensive system for reporting financial 
and non-financial information to the Directors. Financial projections, including revenue and profit forecasts, are reported on 
a monthly basis to senior management against corresponding figures for previous periods. The central process for evaluating 
and managing non-financial risks is monthly meetings of business functions, each involving at least one Director, together with 
periodic meetings of executive Directors and senior management.

�� Finance Management: The finance department operates within policies approved by the Directors and the Chief Financial 
Officer. Expenditures are tightly controlled with stringent approvals required based on amount. Duties such as legal, finance, 
sales and operations are also strictly segregated to minimize risk.

�� Insurance: Insurance cover is provided externally and depends on the scale of the risk in question and the availability of 
cover in the external market.

Strategic Report
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Corporate, Social and Environmental Responsibilities

The Company endeavours to be honest and fair in its relationships with customers and suppliers, and to be a good 
corporate citizen respecting the laws of the countries in which it operates. The Company is accountable to its shareholders 
but also endeavours to consider the interests of all of its stakeholders, including its employees, customers and suppliers, 
as well as the local communities and environments in which the Company operates. In this context the Company takes 
regular account of the significance of social, environmental and ethical matters to its operations as part of its regular risk 
assessment procedures, with such matters regularly considered by the executive Directors.

The Board is committed to monitoring the Company’s corporate social responsibility policies in key areas. Management 
monitors the Company’s day-to-day activities in order to assess risks in these areas and identify actions that may be taken 
to address those risks. At present, the Board does not consider it appropriate to link the management of these risks to 
remuneration incentives, given the difficulties in measuring the changes to those risks objectively. Given the Company’s 
relatively low social and environmental impact, the Company believes that there are few risks to its short and long term 
value proposition arising from these matters, although it considers the potential to deliver greater value by responding to 
these issues appropriately. The Board believes the Company has adequate information to assess these matters, and effective 
systems for managing any risks. The Company’s website includes a section dedicated to corporate ethical, employment and 
environmental issues.

Whilst the Board considers that material risks arising from social, ethical, employment and environmental issues are 
limited, given the nature of the Company’s business, policies have been adopted in key areas to ensure that such risks are 
limited. The Company’s policy is to behave in an environmentally responsible manner consistent with local environmental 
regulations and standards. These include ensuring that any waste is dealt with in accordance with all local waste disposal 
regulations, improving recycling and upgrading the energy and lighting systems in the Company’s facilities to more low 
energy equivalents. During 2012 the Board nominated Mrs. Elka Nir, one of the external Directors, to monitor environmental 
policies of the Company and its compliance with local environmental issues as well as quality and regulatory standards.  
Examples of policies and practices in these areas are given below.

Employment Policies

BATM employs approximately 781 people and in order to continue to grow as a business, the Company needs to continue to 
recruit and retain only the best talent. Therefore it is the Company’s policy to pursue practices that are sensitive to the needs of its 
people. The Company strives for equal opportunities for all of its employees, including disabled employees, and does not tolerate 
harassment of, or discrimination against, its staff. The Company’s priorities are:

�� Providing a safe workplace with equality of opportunity and diversity through our employment policies.

�� Encouraging our people to reach their full potential through career development and promotion from within where 
possible.

�� Communicating openly and transparently within the bounds of commercial confidentiality, whilst listening to our people 
and taking into account their feedback.

�� Recognizing and rewarding our people for their contribution and encouraging share ownership at all levels.

  The Company respects the rule of law within all jurisdictions in which it operates and supports appropriate internationally 
accepted standards including those on human rights. The Company ensures that its suppliers undertake to comply with all 
international standards and laws relating to human rights and non-abuse of minors. The Company’s equal opportunities policies 
prohibit discrimination on grounds such as race, gender, religion, sexual orientation or disability. This policy includes, where 
practicable, the continued employment of those who may become disabled during their employment. The Company’s policies 
strive to ensure that all decisions about the appointment, treatment and promotion of employees are based entirely on merit, 
and continued development of the Company is made with the maximum involvement and input from employees practicable.

All employees of the Company are expected to behave ethically when working for the Company and this is reflected in the rules 
and policies in effect in the Company. The Company has an ethics policy which has been communicated to all of its employees 
which incorporate specific anti-bribery and corruption policies and emphasises an ethical business standard for carrying on 
business dealings with its customers and suppliers. 

Strategic Report
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Employees with Disabilities

The Company’s policy is to give full and fair consideration to suitable applications from people with disabilities for 
employment. If existing employees become disabled they will continue to be employed, wherever practicable, in the same 
job or, if this is not practicable, every effort will be made to find suitable alternative employment and to provide appropriate 
training.

Environmental Policies and adherence to EU Environmental Directives

The Directors recognize the importance of the Group adhering to clear environmental objectives.

Its environmental policy is to:
�� Meet the statutory requirements placed on it;
�� Adopt good environmental practice in respect of premises, product development and manufacturing, and consumption 

of resources;
�� Aim to recycle as much of its waste products as it is economically practicable to do.

The Company has programs to reduce its electricity and fuel consumption. 

In addition the Company designs certain product lines that are designed to reduce energy consumption and waste 
production. During 2012 the Company launched a new product, in the Medical Division, to treat medical waste and convert 
it into normal waste. The successful launch of this product into dialysis centres, laboratory and hospitals and the relevant 
environmental certifications will position the Company as a leader in this field.

The Company has implemented the recommendations of ROHS (The Restriction of Hazardous Substances) in Electrical and 
Electronic Equipment (ROHS) Directive (2002/95/EC), and as of year 2008 onwards, all of its products are fully ROHS certified.

The Company is ISO 14000 certified and the Group’s facilities are also ISO 9001:2008 certified for their quality management 
systems and controls, thus ensuring that the Company’s telecom and medical products comply with relevant quality and 
safety standards.

Ethical Business Practices

All employees are expected to behave ethically when working for the Company and this is reflected in our policies which 
are disseminated to all of our employees.   

Charitable Policies

BATM maintains a number of small charitable giving policies. BATM did not make any political donations in the 2014 financial 
year and made only charitable donations.

The Company actively encourages every employee to work to further charitable goals.

Community Involvement

BATM is involved with a number of community projects. These include involvement with local charitable organizations and 
hospitals that are designed to help bridge socio-economic divides and help the sick.

Strategic Report
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Financial Review

Total Group revenues in 2014 decreased to $109.2m (2013: 
$114.2m). Medical division revenues increased by 10.7% 
to $58.8m (2013: $53.1m) as a result of organic growth 
whilst Telecom division revenues decreased by 17.5% to 
$50.4m (2013: $60.6m). 

The blended gross profit margin for the year was 31.2% 
(2013: 34.7%). The gross profit of the Medical division 
remained unchanged at 23% whilst the Telecom division 
gross profit decreased from 44% to 41% mostly due to a 
write-off of $1.9m of inventory in the Telecom. 

Sales and marketing expenses were $15.2m (2013: 
$16.7m), representing 14.0% of revenue compared with 
14.7% in 2013. The majority of the decrease was in the 
Telco unit of the Telecom division.

General and administrative expenses were $11.2m (2013: 
$10.9m), representing 10.2% of revenue, compared with 
9.6% in 2013. This increase of $0.2m is mostly due to an 
allowance for doubtful debts and severance costs in the 
Telecom division.

R&D investment in 2014 was $8.7m (2013: $11.8m). This 
decrease of $3.1m was primarily due to a change in the 
focus of R&D towards a new solution for Tier 1 service 
provider clients and also as a result of a higher contribution 
from the Israeli Chief Scientist (2014: $1.3m; 2013: $0.6m).

Other operating expenses include amortisation of other 
intangible assets of $1.7m compared with $3.0m in 
2013(including $0.9m amortisation on Vigilant) and a 
write-off of $2.5m goodwill on Vigilant in 2013. 

Net finance expenses were $0.9m (2013: $0.6m expense), 
comprising $0.7m interest on tax expenses due to final tax 
assessments for the years 2007-2012, which were agreed 
with the tax authorities at the beginning of 2015, $0.5m 
of finance costs as well as a loss of $0.2m on forward 
transactions, which were partially offset by $0.5m of 
interest income and gain on marketable securities.

Net income tax benefit was $0.1m (2013: $0.3m), 
comprising $0.2m corporate tax for the year partially 
offset by $0.3m change in net deferred tax. During 2013, 
part of Vigilant carry forward tax losses were recognised 
by the tax authorities as part of the BATM balance sheet.

Net loss after tax attributable to equity holders of the 
Group amounted to $3.2m (2013: $4.5m loss), resulting in 
a basic loss per share of 0.79¢ (2013: 1.12¢ loss).

The Group’s balance sheet remains strong with cash and 
financial assets of $34.9m, a decrease of $1.2m compared 
with $36.1m as at 30 June 2014 and a decrease of $5.9m 
compared with $40.8m as at 31 December 2013. The 
decrease in cash balances during the second half of 2014 
is mainly due to the operating loss in the second half of 
the year.

Period end cash is comprised as follows: cash and deposits 
up to three months duration of $15.9m and short-term 
cash deposits up to one year of $19.0m. 

Intangible assets and Goodwill decreased to $16.4m 
(31 December 2013: $18.2m). The decrease is due to 
the amortisation of $1.7m, which is reported in other 
operating expenses.

Investment in non-consolidated companies relates mostly 
to the investment of $5.3m in the construction of a new 
nationwide fibre network of which $1.6m is not yet paid 
and is recorded as a current liability in the balance sheet. 
In addition, at the end of  the year, the IBC project was re-
appraised by an external valuator and the value increased, 
resulting in a net gain on available-for-sale financial assets 
to the Group of $0.47m in 2014 (2013: nil).

Property, plant and equipment including investment 
property decreased to $22.9m (31 December 2013: 
$24.7m) due to depreciation of fixed assets. Post period-
end, the Group sold a building of offices that it owned in 
Kfar Netter for a consideration of $1.5m.

Total inventories increased from $23.1m at the end of 2013 
to $24.2m at 31 December 2014 mainly due to growth in 
the Distribution unit in Moldova. 

Trade and other receivables decreased to $31.0m from 
$33.6m at the end of 2013. Trade and other payables 
decreased to $28.0m from $29.8m at the end of 2013. 
The majority of the decrease in the inventory, accounts 
receivables and accounts payables is due to the decline 
in the operation of Anda, which was part of the Telecom 
Division’s legacy products.

Strategic Report
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Business Review

In 2014, BATM continued to make solid progress in all of its businesses and experienced a strong end to the year. In Q4 2014, 
the Group achieved sequential revenue growth over Q3 2014 of 20.0% to $28.7m. Revenues in the Medical division grew by 
41.5% over Q3 2014, whilst revenues in the Telecom division remained stable. The Medical division contributed 54% of total 
sales and the Telecom division accounted for 46% of total 2014 sales. 

These results reflect the momentum and progress that the Group has achieved in the Medical division during 2014. They 
also validate the management’s strategic decision to focus on Tier 1 operators and to appoint new leadership at the Telecom 
division. 

The decline in revenues in the second half of the year was due to the impact of adverse foreign exchange, particularly the 
depreciation of the Moldavian lei – a significant territory for the Distribution unit – and Euro against the US Dollar (7.8% and 
6.1% respectively). Without this, the revenues in the second half would have been in line with those of the first half of the 
year.

The Distribution unit contributed approximately 64.2% of Medical division revenues in 2014, and achieved annual revenue 
and profit growth over 2013. The Group expects continued growth in revenues and profit during 2015 in all of the 
geographies in which the Distribution unit operates. 

The Pathogenic Waste Treatment Sterilisation unit constituted 17.4% of the Medical division’s revenues and, significantly, 
continues to achieve operating profitability. The unit grew revenues by 15.2% while maintaining gross and operating margins. 
The business remains focused on the treatment of medical and biological waste, based on unique patented technology, 
and the expansion of its OEM relationships. During the fourth quarter, it launched a new version of a smaller steriliser 
designed for dialysis centres and laboratories, and had already supplied 40 devices by the end of the year. In addition, the 
Group continued to expand the applications of its biological waste solution, including for pharmaceutical plants.

The Diagnostics unit, which constituted 18.4% of Medical division revenues in 2014, made significant progress during the 
year in several respects. The business established new customer relationships and invested in automating production 
in order to increase capacity, which will enable the Group to target major customers and markets. Certification efforts 
continued, mainly in Latin America and the Far East, with certifications being granted post period-end, including being 
granted a license by the China Food and Drug Administration of People’s Republic of China for the importation, marketing 
and sale in China of the Group’s diagnostic kit for hepatitis C, which it identifies by detecting antibodies to the virus using an 
ELISA screen. To service the Chinese market, the business has established an office in Wushi, near Shanghai. In addition, the 
expansion in production capacity, through the installation of additional equipment, is anticipated to achieve a 50% increase 
in reagent production in 2015. The Group expects that these efforts made in 2014 will yield results in H1 2015.

H1 2014 H2 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Revenues $30.2m $28.6m $58.8m $53.1m

Gross margin 23% 23% 23% 24%

Operating loss $1.0m $0.5m $1.5m $2.3m

Medical Division

Strategic Report
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Telecom Division

The decline in revenues and gross margin in the second half of the year was due to lower revenue and an inventory write-
off of $1.6m in the second half of the year mostly attributed to the legacy products.
 
In Q3 2014 the Group launched the CloudMetro™ 100, the world’s first 10GE platform for virtualised IT services at the network 
edge. This marks further progress with the Group’s new strategy of concentrating on Tier 1 clients, SDN (Software Driven 
Networks) and NFV (Network Function Virtualisation). The Group is one of the pioneering vendors to offer SDN support on 
its entire portfolio of products, positioning BATM as an SDN and NFV market leader. This achievement allows the Group to 
offer many advanced third party software applications on top of its newly created open network platform thereby enabling 
Worldwide Network Service Providers to extend their offering and revenues beyond the traditional Network connectivity. 
The Group believes that this technology leadership will enable it to reach strong sustained long-term growth.
 
By investing as a shareholder in IBC (Israel Broadband Company) and securing its first paying customers, together with Cisco 
Systems and the Israel Electric Company, the Group continued its active leadership in the consortium for the construction 
of a new nationwide fibre optic infrastructure network in Israel.

BATM’s cyber unit, CELARE, signed a collaboration agreement to integrate its cyber solution with the big data solution of 
Oracle, one of the world’s largest software companies. A pilot contract from a major customer was awarded at the end of 
July 2014 for the integrated solution, which aims to identify unknown network threats using big data analytics and machine 
learning processes.   

H1 2014 H2 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Revenues $26.4m $24.0m $50.4m $60.6m

Gross margin 45% 36% 41% 44%

Operating profit (loss) $1.4m $(0.9m) $0.5m $2.4m

Strategic Report
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Current Trading and Prospects

The Group experienced a strong end to 2014, particularly in the Medical division, which the management expects to 
continue throughout 2015.

Specifically, the BATM management expect the Medical division to benefit from the expansion of the Distribution unit in 
Hungary; the increase in deliveries of the smaller steriliser units to laboratories; and the installation of a biological pathogenic 
waste solution at a major pharmaceutical vendor at the beginning of this year with further installations anticipated for later 
in 2015. In addition, in the Diagnostics unit, production capacity has been expanded to achieve a 50% increase in reagent 
production in 2015. As a result, the Medical division is expected to grow in 2015.

The Telecom division, which underwent a major strategic shift, has stabilised and is receiving interest as well as initial sales 
from major industry players for its Software Driven Networking offering. The Group believes that this will continue to be the 
focus of the industry for the foreseeable future and it expects to benefit from this trend.

As a result, the Board is confident of delivering improved results in 2015 compared with 2014.

The Strategic Report, covered pages 7 to 17 of the Annual Report and Financial Statements 2014, has been approved by 
the Board.

The Board has a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they 
fall due over the coming 2015 year. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Dr. Gideon Chitayat
Chairman

30 April 2015

Strategic Report
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The Company is committed to high standards of corporate governance and the Board is accountable to the Company’s 
shareholders for such governance. The Board reviews carefully all new regulations relating to the principles of good corporate 
governance and practice and endeavours to apply them where applicable. It also reviews carefully any comments received 
from independent reviewing agencies and shareholders and communicates with them directly. The Company believes that the 
combination of the experience of its new Chairman, Dr. Gideon Chitayat, as well as the experience and expertise of its external 
directors provides the Company with the relevant leadership to address its position as an Israeli Company that is traded on the 
UK exchange.  As a result of recent amendments in the Israeli Companies Law on corporate governance which came into effect 
during 2012, as well as comments received during 2012 from corporate governance consultants of UK institutional and pension 
investors, the Company has implemented various improvements in its corporate governance policies, as described in more detail 
in this Report. The main thrust of these changes is designed to:

(a)  Guarantee full independence of the various committees of the Board, including the nomination, audit and remuneration 
committees;

(b)  Improve transparency between the Board and senior management of the Company;

(c)  Improve the remuneration policy of the Company by refining the parameters and determining pre-defined key performance 
indicators as a requisite for performance-linked remuneration to its senior executives; and 

(d)  Improve the Company’s environmental policy and responsibility. 

This report outlines how the Company has applied the Main Principles set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code issued by 
the UK Financial Reporting Council in June 2010 and updated in September 2012 (the “Governance Code”). 

Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance
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The following served as Directors during the year and are currently serving:

Dr Gideon Chitayat, non-executive Chairman, is the Chairman and CEO of GMBS Ltd- Strategic Consulting Firm. He is 
currently a Director of Delta Galil Industries, Paz Oil Company and Milissron Shopping malls. Dr. Chitayat has served as a Director 
for Teva Israel Pharmaceutical Industries, Bank Hapoalim and Israel Aircraft Industries. He has provided consultancy services to the 
Board and Presidents of companies. Dr Chitayat holds a Ph.D. in Business & Applied Economics from the University of Pennsylvania 
and a Masters in Business & Applied Economics from the Hebrew University, Jerusalem and joined the Board of BATM in June 2010.

Dr. Zvi Marom, Chief Executive Officer, founded BATM in 1992. He holds degrees in Engineering and Medicine. Prior 
to establishing BATM, he was the head of the Electronic faculty of the Israeli Open University and senior consultant to several 
industrial and academic institutions. He graduated in excellence from the naval academy and served in combat command posts. 
He was awarded the Techmark “Technology Man of the Year” award from the London Stock Exchange in 2000. He is currently a 
director of Shore Capital, a UK listed Company.

Ofer Bar-Ner, executive director and COO of Medical Division, joined BATM in 1999. From 1996 he was Chief 
Financial Officer of Silver Arrow LP, a subsidiary of Elbit Systems and EL-OP, and between 1989 and 1993 he was group manager in 
the finance department of Elbit. He graduated in Industrial Engineering and Management from the Technion in Haifa and has an 
MBA and MA in accounting from Northeastern University in Boston, MA. 

Elka Nir, non-executive external director, currently holds the position of director (and chairwoman) of several medical 
companies, two of which are publicly traded on the Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange, and is also a venture partner in Giza Venture Capital 
(in the life sciences field), which has $600 million in assets under management. She has over twenty years’ experience in leading 
dynamic cutting edge technology organizations and held senior managerial positions in leading global medical and healthcare 
corporations including Biosense Webster, Johnson & Johnson, GE Healthcare and Elscint. Mrs. Nir holds a BSc degree from the 
Technion Institute in Haifa in Computer Science (1986) and a diploma in Business Administration from the University of Haifa 
(1996) and joined the Board of BATM in June 2012.

Gideon Barak, non-executive external Director, Mr. Barak has held senior executive positions in leading Israeli 
technology companies and has served as CEO, director and chairman of the Board in numerous technology companies since 
1984. He has founded several companies that were later acquired by international leading corporations including Intel and Pixim/
Sony. He currently holds the position of director and chairman of the Board in several telecom companies including Spikko 
Telecom Ltd.  He has also served in the past as a venture partner in Benchmark Capital and Blue Run Venture Fund. Mr. Barak holds 
a BA degree in Economics and an MBA degree from Tel-Aviv University.

Dr. Avigdor Shafferman, non-executive external Director, Dr. Shafferman holds a Ph.D. in physical chemistry from 
the Hebrew University of Jerusalem. He has served for the past eighteen years as general manager and Head of R&D of a leading 
governmental applied research institute specializing in the fields of biology, medicinal chemistry and environmental sciences. 
He was a visiting professor in the University of California, San Diego at the biology department as well as a visiting senior research 
scientist at various leading research institutions in the United States in various medical areas including vaccines.

Mr. Sheldon retired from this position as of 31 December 2014 and was replaced by Dr. Gideon Chitayat as the new Chairman 
on 1 January 2015. The retiring Chairman was not involved in the selection or appointment of his successor,  Dr. Chitayat, whose 
appointment was discussed and approved unanimously by all the other members of the Board.

Peter Sheldon OBE, JP, FCA, non-executive Chairman, is a Chartered Accountant and International Business 
Consultant. He is a former finance director of Hambros Bank and has held positions as Chairman and director of a number of UK 
publicly quoted and private companies. His quoted Company appointments have included UDS Group; World of Leather; Stirling 
Group and Geo Interactive Media (now Emblaze). He is currently Chairman of Kardan NV, a Company involved in infrastructure and 
real estate projects in emerging markets, which is listed on the Amsterdam and Tel-Aviv stock exchanges and is heavily involved 
in the charitable sector in a voluntary capacity. He has been a member of the Board of BATM since 1998 and became Chairman in 
October 1999. He was awarded an OBE in Her Majesty the Queen’s 2010 New Year Honours.

Dr. Zvi Marom
Chief Executive Officer

Directors 

Corporate Governance
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Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and Israeli Companies Law, directors are elected at the Annual General 
Meeting by the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power represented at such meeting in person or by proxy 
and voting on the election of directors. Each director (except for the public external appointed directors) shall serve until 
the next Annual General Meeting following the Annual General Meeting at which such director was appointed, or his 
earlier removal. The holders of a majority of the voting power represented at a General Meeting and voting thereon shall be 
entitled to remove any director(s) from office, to elect directors in place of the directors so removed or to fill any vacancy, 
however created, in the Board of directors by way of ordinary resolution.  Non-executive public “external” directors, as 
defined by Israeli Company Law, are appointed and elected for a mandatory term of three years, which is renewable for 
no more than two further terms of three years each. The appointment of the external directors must be approved by the 
shareholders in general meeting.  

Apart from the authority of the General Meeting to remove a director from office, subject to giving such director a reasonable 
opportunity to present his position to the General Meeting, under the Company’s articles, the office of a director shall be 
vacated ipso facto, upon his death, or if he be found to be of unsound mind, or becomes bankrupt or if he becomes 
prohibited by law from being a director in a public Company, or if the director is a Company upon its winding up.

The two executive Directors, the CEO, Zvi Marom and the COO Medical Division, Ofer Barner will be proposed for re-
election at the coming Annual General Meeting (AGM). The employment contracts of both will be brought for approval at 
the coming AGM.

Under the Israeli Companies Law a Company may amend its articles by a simple majority of the shareholders at a General 
Meeting.  Any proposed amendments to the articles regarding modification of rights attached to shares of the Company 
and/or dividing the share capital into various classes of shares requires the approval of the holders of 75% of the issued 
shares in the Company.

Rules about appointment and replacement of Directors; Amendment of Articles

Compliance with the Governance Code

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2014, and through to the date of approval of the financial statements, the Board 
considers that the Company has complied with the Main Principles of the Governance Code. The Company has applied the 
Main Principles set out in the section with that heading by complying with the Governance Code as set forth below and in 
the Remuneration Report below. Further explanation of how the principles and supporting principles have been applied is 
set out below and in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

In addition, as outlined below, the Company’s responsibilities under Israeli Company legislation is such that it is obliged to 
appoint two independent non-executive directors (defined as “external directors” within Israeli law), who must be appointed 
for a minimum of one three year term, which may be extended by the Company for no more than two additional terms 
of three years each.  With the exception of the “external” non-executive directors who serve for a period of three years in 
accordance with Israeli Company law, all directors have to be re-elected by the shareholders at an AGM, if proposed for 
re-election. 

The current independent non-executive Directors defined as external directors within Israeli law are Mr. Gideon Barak, Mrs. 
Elka Nir and Dr. Avigdor Shafferman. Mr. Barak was appointed in July 2013 (his position is due for re-election in July 2016) 
and Mrs. Nir was appointed for a term of three years in June 2012. Dr. Shafferman was appointed for a term of three years 
in February 2015. 

Corporate Governance
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Meetings Written Consent Attendance

Board of Directors 6 1 Note 1

Audit Committee 4 - Note 2

Remuneration Committee 2 -

Nominations Committee - -

The Board – leadership and effectiveness. 

There is not a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board for decision, as set out in A.1.1 of the Governance 
Code, however, provisions in the Israeli Company legislation set out the responsibilities and duties of and areas of decision 
for the Board which includes approval of financial statements, dividends, Board appointments and removals, long term 
objectives and commercial strategy, changes in capital structure, appointment, removal and compensation of senior 
management, major investments including mergers and acquisitions, risk management, corporate governance, engagement 
of professional advisors, political donations and internal control arrangements. The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and 
approving the annual report and financial statements, and for ensuring that they present a balanced assessment of the 
Company’s position, lies with the Board. These provisions have been fully complied with.

The Board comprises six Directors, four of whom are non-executive Directors, under the chairmanship of Dr. Gideon 
Chitayat. The Chief Executive is Dr. Zvi Marom. The Board’s members have a wide breadth of experience in areas relating to 
the Company’s activities and the non-executive Directors in particular bring additional expertise to matters affecting the 
Company. All of the Directors are of a high calibre and standing. The biographies of all the members of the Board are set 
out on page 19. The interest of the Directors in the Company and their share holdings are set out on page 27. All the non-
executive Directors are independent of management and not involved in any business or other relationship, which could 
materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment. The Board is of the opinion that each of its members 
has the skills, knowledge, aptitude and experience to perform the functions required of a director of a listed Company and 
that the Board comprised a good balance of executive and non-executive Directors.

The induction of newly elected Directors into office is the responsibility of the Chairman of the Board. The new Directors 
receive a memorandum on the responsibilities and liabilities of directors as well as presentations of all activities of the 
Company by senior members of management and a guided tour of the Company’s premises.  All Directors are invited to 
visit the Company premises and its manufacturing facilities. 

Each month every Director receives a detailed operating report on the performance of the Company in the relevant period, 
including a consolidated statement of financial position. A fuller report on the trading and quarterly results of the Company 
is provided at every Board meeting. Once per year a budget is discussed and approved by the Board for the following year. 
All Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and any further information requested by a Director 
is always made available. 

The Company has an experienced Company Secretary, Mr. Arthur Moher, who is also one of the Company’s legal advisers 
and all the Directors have access to Mr. Moher’s services. Accordingly, the Company complies with section A.1.4 of the 
Governance Code.

The Directors may take independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in furtherance of their duties. 
Independent outside counsel is present at every Board meeting and Board committee meetings.

The Board which currently comprises two Executive and four non-executive Directors including the Chairman, is responsible 
collectively for the long term success of the Company. In compliance with Israeli Company legislation the Board meets at 
least four times a year in formal session.  Prior to each meeting, the Board is furnished with information in a form and quality 
appropriate for it to discharge its duties concerning the state of the business and performance. 

Board and committee activities in 2014 were as follows:

1) All Directors attended 100% of the Board 
meetings during 2014 except for 1 absence of 
Mr. Gideon Barak from 1 Board meeting due to a 
sudden trip overseas. 

(2) All Audit Committee members attended 100% 
of meetings during 2014. 

Corporate Governance
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Relations with Shareholders and Significant Shareholders

Communication with shareholders is given high priority. 
The half-yearly and annual results are intended to give 
a detailed review of the business and developments. A 
full Annual Report is made available on the Company’s 
website to all shareholders and printed copies made 
available on request. The Company’s website (www.batm.
com) contains up to date information on the Company’s 
activities and published financial results. The Company 
solicits regular dialogue with institutional shareholders 
(other than during closed periods) to understand 
shareholders views. The Board also uses the Annual 
General Meeting to communicate with all shareholders 
and welcomes their participation. Directors are available 
to meet with shareholders at appropriate times. The 
Company is committed to having a constructive 
engagement with its shareholders. 

As of 31 December 2014, to the best of the Company’s 
knowledge, the following persons or entities had a 
significant holding of BATM ordinary shares: 

Dr. Zvi Marom, the Company’s CEO and founder – 23.29%

Henderson Global Investors   - 21.11%

Legal & General Investment Management – 16.24%

River & Mercantile Asset Management – 5.16%

Herald Investment Management – 5.00%

All of the above hold ordinary shares of the Company. 

Committees

The Board has established an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee and a Nomination Committee to deal with 
specific aspects of the Company’s affairs.

Audit Committee 

Members: Mrs. Elka NIr, Mr. G. Barak and Dr. Avigdor Shafferman
Chairman: Gideon Barak (*)

(*) Gideon Barak was the Chairman until 31 December 2014, Mrs. Elka Nir replaced him as Chairperson on 1 January 2015.

The members of the Audit Committee have significant financial expertise. The Committee’s terms of reference include, 
among other things, monitoring the scope and results of the external audit, the review of interim and annual results, the 
involvement of the external auditors in those processes, review of whistle blowing procedures, considering compliance 
with legal requirements, accounting standards and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority, and for advising 
the Board on the requirement to maintain an effective system of internal controls. The Committee also keeps under review 
the independence and objectivity of the group’s external auditors, value for money of the audit and the nature, extent and 
cost-effectiveness of the non-audit services provided by the auditors (see note 9 to the financial statements). 

The Committee has discussed with the external auditors their independence, and has received and reviewed written 
disclosures from the external auditors regarding independence. During 2009 the external auditors replaced the partner in 
charge of the audit to comply with their internal independence regulations. Non-audit work is generally put out to tender. 
In cases which are significant, the Company engages another independent firm of accountants to consulting work to avoid 
the possibility that the auditors’ objectivity and independence could be compromised; work is only carried out by the 
auditors in cases where they are best suited to perform the work, for example, tax compliance. However, from time to time, 
the Company will engage the auditors on matters relating to acquisition accounting and due diligence. 

The Committee meets at least twice a year, and always prior to the announcement of interim or annual results. The external 
auditors and Chief Financial Officer are invited to attend all meetings in order to ensure that all the information required by 
the Committee is available for it to operate effectively. The external auditor communicates with the members of the Audit 
Committee during the year, without executive officers present.

The Audit Committee adheres to the functions and requirements prescribed to it by the Israeli Companies Law and Israeli 
Regulations. The Chairman of the Audit Committee maintains close contact with the Company on a regular basis.

Corporate Governance
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Remuneration Committee

Members: Mr. Gideon Barak,  Elka Nir and Dr. Avigdor Shafferman
Chairperson: Elka Nir(*)

(*) Mrs. Elka Nir was the chairman until 31 December 2014, Mr. Gideon Barak replaced her on 1 January 2015.

The Company’s Remuneration Committee is constituted in accordance with the recommendations of the Governance 
Code. The Committee consists of three out of the four non-executive Directors and excludes the chairman as is required 
under Israeli Company Law. Since January 2015 the Committee is chaired by Gideon Barak, one of the external Directors (as 
mandatory under the Israeli Companies Law) and its other members are Elka Nir and Dr. Avigdor Shafferman both of whom 
are non-executive independent Directors.  None of the Committee members has any personal financial interests, conflicts 
of interests arising from cross-directorships or day-to-day involvement in running the business.

None of the Directors plays a part in any determination of his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met twice during the financial year. It has responsibility for making recommendations to 
the Board on the Company’s policy on staff remuneration and for the determination, within agreed terms of reference, of 
specific remuneration packages for the Chairman of the Company and each of the executive Directors (including pension 
rights and any compensation payments).

The primary responsibilities of the Committee are to ensure:

1. That individual pay levels for executive Directors should generally be in line with levels of pay for executives in similar 
companies with similar performance achievement and responsibilities.

2. That share option and bonus schemes should be set at a level that provides sufficient incentive to the executive to 
produce results that will reflect and exceed the Board’s expectations.

3. That total pay and long term remuneration will be sufficient to retain executives who perform. 

4. That aggregate pay for all executive Directors is reasonable in light of the Company’s size and performance.

Information of the Company’s policy regarding the setting of Directors’ remuneration together with the remuneration of 
Directors is set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 24–27. The Company’s remuneration policy as recommended by 
the Remuneration Committee was approved at the last Annual General Meeting of the Company in September 2014. The 
remuneration policy is further explained in the Remuneration Report below.

No external remuneration advisers were engaged during the year.

Corporate Governance

Nominations Committee

Members: Dr. Gideon Chitayat, Dr. Zvi Marom and Dr. Avigdor Shafferman 
Chairman: Dr. Gideon Chitayat

In compliance with recent amendments to Israeli law, the chairman of the Nominations Committee is chaired by an 
independent non-executive director thereby improving the independence of this Committee. Individuals nominated 
as Directors are elected by the shareholders in General Meeting. Executive and non-executive Directors are elected by 
the shareholder’s General Meeting for a term of one year. Non-executive public “external” Directors, as defined by Israeli 
Company Law, are appointed and elected for a mandatory term of three years, which is renewable for no more than two 
further terms of three years each. The re-appointment of a director must be approved by the shareholders in general 
meeting. 

Conflicts

Throughout 2014 the Company has complied with procedures in place for ensuring that the Board’s powers to authorize 
conflict situations have been operated effectively. During 2014 no conflicts arose which would require the board to exercise 
authority or discretion in relation to such conflicts.
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Introduction

This report sets out BATM Advanced Communication’s executive remuneration policy and details Directors’ remuneration 
and benefits for the financial year under review.  The recent amendments to the UK Companies Act 2006 in relation to the 
preparation and approval of directors’ remuneration policies and reports for certain listed companies do not apply to BATM 
as it is not incorporated in England.  The proposed policy and report referred to below are not intended to comply with 
the provisions of such laws, although the Board considers that the proposed remuneration policies would comply with the 
Governance Code. A resolution to approve the report will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting of the Company at 
which approval of the financial statements will be sought. In accordance with Israeli Company law, the Board recommends 
and the General Meeting of the Company is asked to approve, the remuneration of the executive Directors of the Company, 
after it has been first approved by the Company’s Remuneration Committee and Board of Directors. 

The Reporting Regulations (Israeli Auditing Reporting Standards) also require the auditors to report to the Company’s 
members in the financial statement within this report and to state whether in their opinion that part of the report has been 
properly prepared. The report is therefore divided into separate sections for audited and unaudited information. 

No remuneration consultants were engaged by the Company in 2014

The Company’s current Remuneration Policy and Guidelines (hereinafter – “Remuneration Policy”) came into effect after its 
approval by the Shareholders’ Meeting by a majority vote as prescribed in section 267A (b) of the Israeli Companies Law, 
1999 (the “Law”) at the Annual General Meeting held in September 2014.

Unaudited information – Remuneration Policy

Objects of the Remuneration Policy:

a) To design appropriate remuneration packages to attract, retain and motivate senior executives and managers (including 
the CEO, CFO, executive and non executive directors and others determined by the Board to fall within this category) 
of the quality required to run the Company successfully (without paying more than is necessary for this purpose) while 
considering and managing the business risks and linking such remuneration policy to the Company’s long term strategy 
and performance and its sustainable financial health;

b) To create long term performance-linked remuneration that will incentivize the senior executives to achieve those 
performance criteria and profits for the Company;

c) To link rewards for senior executives of the Company to corporate and individual performance which will be measured 
by both quantitative and qualitative criteria, balancing reward in the short and long term and fixed and variable elements 
of reward packages;

d) To control and position compensation for executive directors and senior executives in the Company in comparison with 
salaries and benefits of other employees in the Company, as well as senior executives in similar companies; 

e) To align the interests of executive directors and senior executives with the interests of shareholders; and

f ) To design remuneration packages that are flexible enough to cope with the Company’s changing needs as it grows and 
its strategy evolves.

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Remuneration Principles

a) The remuneration of senior executives of the Company shall be comprised of: 

(i) fixed remuneration (including pensions, social benefits and fringe benefits) that is commensurate with the individual 
executive’s skills, experience, education, qualifications and responsibilities.  Base salary, benefits and pension will be set at 
a broadly mid-market level (including with reference to the country in which an executive principally works), and reviewed 
annually taking account of individual responsibilities and performance;

(ii) variable remuneration, comprising:

(A) Annual Bonus.  

The level of the bonus paid to any executive director or senior executive, and its composition in cash and/or deferred payment 
(such as conditional share awards or options) will be established to link rewards with the Company’s annual business targets, 
based on quantifiable measurements and targets set out at the start of the financial year by the Remuneration Committee. 
Up to half shall be based on the achievement of strategic or operational objectives and at least half of any annual bonus shall 
be referenced to financial performance or targets as will be determined by the Remuneration Committee and the Board of 
Directors.  Between 10% and 20% will be based on non-financial key performance indicators based on the evaluation of the 
Company’s CEO, or when appropriate, the Remuneration Committee.  Annual bonuses may be withheld in whole or in part 
if the business has suffered an exceptional negative event, even if some specific targets have been met.  The Remuneration 
Committee has overall discretion to ensure that a payment that is inappropriate in all the Company’s circumstances is not 
made.  The maximum aggregate bonus shall be 100% of annual base salary and may be delivered in cash or partly in cash and 
partly in share options under the BATM Share Option Scheme (“Scheme”) (or through another long term incentive mechanism) 
subject to appropriate vesting conditions, as the Remuneration Committee may determine.   

(B) Long Term Incentives.  

The Company’s long term incentive package for senior executives will be established to support the Company’s strategy by 
incentivizing the delivery of growth, increase in profitability, superior shareholder returns and sustained financial performance.  
Long term incentives are currently intended to be satisfied by the issue of options under the Scheme, although other incentive 
mechanisms may be established following appropriate Board, Remuneration Committee and shareholder approvals.  

a) Any award shall be subject to the attainment of the following threshold conditions:

�� The Company must show a net profit over a three year period from the date this Remuneration Policy comes into effect; and

�� The Company must show an accumulative EBITDA of at least USD 10 million excluding from M&A transactions and/or 
one-time financial transactions over the coming two year period from the date this Remuneration Policy comes into effect.  
 
If the above threshold conditions are met, then the Board may grant options which shall be subject to: 

�� a minimum vesting period of three (3) years from the date of the grant and options shall not be exercisable more than ten 
years after the date of the grant;

�� The vesting shall be conditioned on attaining the performance targets based on the above financial metrics over a three 
year performance period, intended to stimulate future growth, with vesting on a sliding scale so that outstanding performance 
is required for 100% vesting; and

�� The price (“exercise price”) at which options may be granted shall not be under the average market price in the month 
preceding the date of the grant plus 5% above this market price. 
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

The maximum annual long term incentive award (which would be subject to vesting and performance conditions as above) 
is 150% of base salary.

b) Variable remuneration will be subject to appropriate claw-back provisions in circumstances of misstatement or misconduct, 
or an error in the calculation of the Company’s financial performance of any target or threshold as well as subject to appropriate 
provisions as to lapse or cessation of employment.

c) The Remuneration Committee shall have due regard to conditions elsewhere within the BATM group and take them into 
account when determining executive remuneration.

d) The Company’s long-term incentive schemes, as applicable to directors and senior executives, should provide that 
commitments to issue BATM shares must not exceed (in aggregate across all schemes) 5% of the issued ordinary share capital 
(adjusted for share issuance and cancellation) in any rolling 10 year period.  

e) Notice or contract periods for the executive directors of the Company and senior managers should be set at 12 months 
or less, save where necessary in the short term to recruit individuals of the appropriate calibre. Compensation commitments 
for loss of office or early termination of an executive director or senior manager should not have the effect of rewarding poor 
performance and shall reflect the departing executive’s obligations to mitigate loss.

During 2014 no additional option grants were made to the Company’s CEO or CFO.  
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The interests of the Directors and their immediate families, both beneficial and non-beneficial, in the ordinary shares of the 
Company at 31 December 2014 were as follows.

(*) On January 5 2015 Dr. Gideon Chitayat acquired an additional 1,400,000 shares of BATM.
(**) During April 2015 Dr. Zvi Marom acquired an additional 500,000 shares of BATM.

Table B – Interests of the Directors

2014
Ordinary shares

2013
Ordinary shares

Zvi Marom (**) 93,894,500 93,894,500

Ofer Bar Ner 212,500 212,500

Peter Sheldon 150,000 750,000

Gideon Chitayat (*) 600,000 -

Gideon Barak - -

Elka Nir - -

Table C – Share Options

No options were held by the Directors during the year.

The table of Directors’ remuneration is set out below and is consistent with note 37 to the financial statements.  

Basic Salary 
$000

Social benefits
$000

Pension benefits
$000

Performance 
bonus

$000
2014 Total

$000
2013 Total

$000

Zvi Marom 315 26 8 - 349 316

Ofer Bar Ner 190 32 10 - 232 251

Peter Sheldon 54 - - - 54 58

Gideon Chitayat 45 - - - 45 51

Elka Nir 48 - - - 48 39

Gideon Barak  46 - - -  46  11

Amos Shani - - - - - 12

Table A – Emoluments of the Directors with comparatives

Audited information 

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014.

The Board is not proposing a dividend this year.

Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co., a member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, has expressed its willingness to 
continue in office and a resolution to re-appoint the firm will be proposed at the annual general meeting.

The Directors Report has been brought for review to the Board and has been approved in its present form.  The Directors 
Report is signed on behalf of the Board by:

Dr. Zvi Marom, Director & CEO 

The information that fulfils the requirement of the corporate governance statement in accordance with Rule 7.2 of 
the Financial Conduct Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules can be found in this Directors’ Report and in the 
Corporate Governance information on pages 18 to 23 which is incorporated into the Directors’ Report by reference.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Remuneration Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable laws and regulations. The Directors are required to prepare financial statements for the Group 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Israeli Company law requires the Directors to prepare 
such financial statements.

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial statements present fairly for each financial year the Company’s 
financial position, financial performance and cash flows. This requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, 
other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses set out in the International Accounting Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of 
Financial Statements’. In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved by compliance with all applicable 
International Financial Reporting Standards. Directors are also required to:

�� properly select and apply accounting policies;
�� present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and 

understandable information; 
�� provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to 

understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial 
performance.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Company, for safeguarding the assets, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities and for the preparation of a Directors’ Report and Directors’ Remuneration Report 
which comply with the Listing Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency rules.

Legislation in Israel governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

Each of the Directors confirms to the best of his or her knowledge:
1. the financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
taken as a whole; 
2. the strategic report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the 
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties they face.

Financial Statements

Dividends

Accountability and Audit

Corporate Governance Statement

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Directors’  Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders 
of BATM Advanced Communications Ltd. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of BATM Advanced Communications Ltd. 
and its subsidiaries (hereafter- “the Company”) as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the consolidated income statements, 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the 
period ended December 31, 2014. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s board of directors and 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We did not audit the financial statements of certain subsidiaries, whose assets included in consolidation constitute 
approximately 6% and 4% of total consolidated assets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and whose revenues 
included in consolidation constitute approximately 8% and 6%, of total consolidated revenues for the years ended December 
31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The financial statements of those companies were audited by other auditors, whose reports 
have been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to amounts included for those companies, is based on the 
reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, including those prescribed 
by the Auditors’ Regulations (Auditor’s Mode of Performance) – 1973. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the board of directors 
and management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statements presentation. We believed that our audits and the 
reports of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above present 
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 
2014 and 2013, and their consolidated results of operations, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the two years in 
the period ended December 31, 2014 in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co.

Certified Public Accountants

A member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

Tel Aviv, Israel

30 April 2015

Independent Auditors’ Report 
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Note                                        Year ended 31 December

2014 2013

                                                   US$ in thousands

Revenues 5,6 109,247 114,155

Cost of revenues 7 75,143 74,564

Gross profit 34,104 39,591

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing expenses 8 15,243 16,746

General and administrative expenses 9 11,165 10,919

Research and development expenses 10 8,716 11,830

Other operating expenses 32 1,708 5,534

Total operating expenses 36,832 45,029

Operating loss from continuing operation (2,728) (5,438)

Finance income 12 510 256

Finance expenses 13 (1,454) (865)

Loss before tax (3,672) (6,047)

Income tax benefits 14 140 314

Loss for the year from continuing operations (3,532) (5,733)

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 15 - 319

Loss for the year (3,532) (5,414)

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company (3,176) (4,513)

Non-controlling interests (356) (901)

Loss for the year (3,532) (5,414)

Loss per share (in cents) basic and diluted 16

From continuing and discontinued operations (0.79) (1.12)

From continuing operations (0.79) (1.20)

From discontinued operations - 0.08

Consolidated Income Statements
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statements Of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

                                         Year ended 31 December

2014 2013

                                          US$ in thousands

Loss for the year      (3,532)      (5,414)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets           473 -

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (4,254) 1,717

Total comprehensive loss for the year       (7,313)       (3,697)

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company      (7,037)      (2,331)

Non-controlling interests      (276)      (1,366)

     (7,313)      (3,697)
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Note                                        31 December

2014 2013

                                                   US$ in thousands

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15,940 13,812

Trade and other receivables 18 31,025 33,552

Financial assets 17 18,974 27,012

Inventories 19 24,202 23,118

Assets classified as held for sale 22 916 -

91,057 97,494

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 20 20,250 20,860

Investment property 21 2,659 3,802

Goodwill 23 11,459 12,096

Other intangible assets 24 4,946 6,089

Available for sale Investments carried at fair value 31 5,741 3,585

Investment accounted for using the equity method  - 598

Deferred tax assets  26 5,990 5,483

51,045 52,513

Total assets 142,102 150,007

Equity and liabilities

 Short-term bank credit 4,187 2,658

 Trade and other payables 27 27,973 29,761

 Provisions 28 3,562 2,826

35,722 35,245

Non-current liabilities

Long-term liabilities 27 4,983  5,690

Deferred tax liabilities 26 1,174 1,339

Retirement benefit obligation 36 786                   1,028

6,943                8,057

Total liabilities                                 42,665                                        43,302        

Equity
Share capital 29 1,216 1,216

Share premium account 407,345 407,300

Reserves (15,674) (11,813)

Accumulated Deficit (293,064) (289,888)

Equity attributable to the:
Owners of the Company 99,823 106,815

Non-controlling interests (386) (110)

Total equity 99,437 106,705

Total equity and liabilities 142,102 150,007

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 30 April 2015. 
They were signed on its behalf by:

Dr. Z. Marom 

CEO

M. Nagar

CFO

Consolidated Statements Of Financial Position
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Share
 capital

Share 
Premium

account
Translation

 reserve
Other

reserves
Accumulated

Deficit

Attributable 
to owners

of the 
parent

Non-
controlling

interest Total equity

US $ in thousands

Balance as at 1 
January 2013

1,215 407,140 (13,660) (335) (285,375) 108,985 1,256 110,241

Exercise of share 
based options by 
employees 1 36 - - - 37 - 37

Recognition of 
share-based 
payments - 124 - - - 124 - 124

Loss for the year
- - - - (4,513) (4,513) (901) (5,414)

Other 
comprehensive 
income for the year - - 2,182 - - 2,182     (465) 1,717

Total 
comprehensive 
loss for the year - - 2,182 - (4,513) (2,331) (1,366) (3,697)

Balance as at 31 
December 2013 1,216 407,300 (11,478) (335)  (289,888) 106,815 (110) 106,705

Exercise of share 
based options by 
employees - 3 - - - 3 - 3

Recognition 
of share-based 
payments - 42 - - - 42 - 42

Loss for the year
- - - - (3,176) (3,176) (356) (3,532)

Other 
comprehensive loss 
for the year - - (4,334) 473 - (3,861) 80 (3,781)

Total 
comprehensive 
loss for the year (4,334) 473 (3,176) (7,037) (276) (7,313)

Balance as at 31 
December 2014 1,216 407,345 (15,812) 138  (293,064) 99,823 (386) 99,437

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statements Of Change In Equity
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Note                                        Year ended 31 December

2014 2013

                                          US$ in thousands

Net cash from (used in) operating activities 32 (5,282) 634

Investing activities

Interest received 150 89

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 293 111

Proceeds on disposal of financial assets carried at fair value  
through profit and loss

240 442

Proceeds on disposal of deposits 32,556 6,142

Proceeds on available for sale investments carried at fair value 133 -

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,788) (1,680)

Purchases of financial assets carried at fair value through profit and loss (157) (6,341)

Purchases of deposits (24,946) (23,582)

Investment in available for sale investments carried at fair value (408) (3,548)

Investment accounted for using the equity method - (598)

Net Cash outflow on acquisition of business combinations (676) (38)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities 5,397 (29,003)

Financing activities

Increase (decrease) in short-term bank credit 478 62

Bank loan repayment (1,427) (2,190)

Bank loan received 2,537 1,323

Proceeds on issue of shares 3 37

Net cash from (used in) financing activities 1,591 (768)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,706 (29,137)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 13,812 42,686

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign 
currencies

422 263

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 15,940 13,812

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Cash  Flow Statements
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BATM Advanced Communications Ltd. (“the Company”) is a Company incorporated in Israel under the Israeli Companies 
law. The address of the registered office is POB 7318, Nave Ne’eman Ind. Area 4, Ha’harash street, 45240 Hod Hasharon, Israel. 
The Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are engaged in the research and development, production and marketing 
of data communication products in the field of Metropolitan area networks (Telecom) and is operating in the medical 
market. The medical division of the Group (“BATM Medical”) is engaged in the research and development, production, 
marketing and distribution of medical products, primarily laboratory diagnostics and sterilization equipment.

In the current year, the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted and have affected the 
amounts reported in these financial statements.

Note 1 - General Information

Note 2 - Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

 2.1 Amendments to IFRSs and the new Interpretation that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRSs and a  new Interpretation issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or 
after 1 January 2014.

Amendments to IAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Asset

The Group has applied the amendments to IAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets for the first 
time in the current year. The amendments to IAS 36 remove the requirement to disclose the recoverable amount of a cash-
generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill or other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives had been allocated when 
there has been no impairment or reversal of impairment of the related CGU. Furthermore, the amendments introduce 
additional disclosure requirements applicable to when the recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is measured at fair value 
less costs of disposal. These new disclosures include the fair value hierarchy, key assumptions and valuation techniques 
used which are in line with the disclosure required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements.

The application of these amendments has had no material impact on the disclosures in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 
9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. 
Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to include a) impairment requirements for financial assets 
and b) limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through other 
comprehensive income’ (FVTOCI) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments. 

Key requirements of IFRS 9:

all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are 
required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a 
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of 
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved both 
by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms of the financial asset give 
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, 
are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair value at the end of 
subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent 
changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only 
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

�� With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires that 
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is 
presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other 
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to 
a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change 
in the fair value of the financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.

�� In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred 
credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and 
changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other 
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

�� The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available 
in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, 
specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-
financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced 
with the principle of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. 
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also been introduced.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of IFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact on amounts 
reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable 
estimate of the effect of IFRS 9 until the Group undertakes a detailed review.

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

 2.2 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective 

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: 

IFRS 9 			                                           Financial Instruments 1

IFRS 15 	                                                                       Revenue from Contracts with Customers 2 

1   Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.
2   Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with earlier application permitted.
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IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for 
revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including 
IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes effective. 

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services 
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods or services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition: 

�� Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
�� Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
�� Step 3: Determine the transaction price
�� Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
�� Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods 
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance 
has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15. 

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of IFRS 15 in the future may have a material impact on the 
amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. However, it is not practicable to 
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed review.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle

The amendments to IFRS 8 (i) require an entity to disclose the judgements made by management in applying the aggregation 
criteria to operating segments, including a description of the operating segments aggregated and the economic indicators 
assessed in determining whether the operating segments have ‘similar economic characteristics’; and (ii) clarify that a 
reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets should only be provided if the segment 
assets are regularly provided to the chief operating decision-maker.

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements
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Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and 
financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained 
in the accounting policies below. 

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the 
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the 
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope 
of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value 
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36. 

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 

�� Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at 
the measurement date;

�� Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly; and

�� Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below. 

Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including 
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

�� has power over the investee;
�� is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
�� has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company 
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains 
control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into 
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of 
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries 
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which 
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred 
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group 
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

�� Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and 
measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 respectively;

�� Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment 
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in 
accordance with IFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see note 3.16.2); and

�� Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the 
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date 
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount 
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), 
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net 
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate 
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a 
transaction-by-transaction basis. 

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of 
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as 
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement 
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which 
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

 The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement 
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as 
equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39, 
or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being 
recognised in profit or loss. 

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to 
its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in 
the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified 
to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination 
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts 
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new 
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the 
amounts recognised at that date. 
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Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of 
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when 
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its 
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit 
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss 
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent 
periods.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or 
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary 
for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which 
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that 
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will 
retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements
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Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated 
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Sale of goods 
(communication products, medical products such as primarily laboratory diagnostics and sterilization products)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and title has passed, at which time all the 
following conditions are satisfied: 

�� the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
�� the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership 

     nor effective control over the goods sold;
�� the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
�� it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and
�� the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services
(software services such as Training, Technical support and maintenance related to the communication products, Mobile & 
Web Solutions, UI, UX Design, Branding, Graphical Design, Drivers & Embedded solutions)

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. The stage of 
completion of the contract is determined as follows:

�� Servicing fees included in the price of products sold are recognised by reference to the proportion of the total cost of 
providing the servicing for the product sold; and

�� Revenue from time and material contracts is recognised at the contractual rates as labour hours and direct expenses are 
incurred.

�� Revenue from long-term contracts is recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on long-term contracts 
(see below).

Dividend and interest income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established 
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured 
reliably).

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the 
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Long-Term contracts

Where the outcome of a long-term contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to 
the stage of completion of the contract activity at the consolidated statements of financial position date. This is normally 
measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract 
costs, except where this would not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in contract work, claims and 
incentive payments are included to the extent that they have been agreed with the customer.

Where the outcome of a long-term contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of 
contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in 
which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an 
expense immediately.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease 
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The 
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements



BATM Advanced Communications Ltd. 44

O
VE

RV
IE

W
   

   
   

  G
O

VE
RN

A
N

C
E 

   
   

  F
IN

A
N

C
IA

LS

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each Group Company are prepared in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the 
results and financial position of each Group Company are expressed in the US dollar, which is the presentation currency for 
the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statement of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end 
of each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are included 
in profit or loss for the period.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations 
(operations in foreign currencies) are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income 
and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly 
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if 
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (attributed to non-controlling interests as 
appropriate). Within the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation reserves are reclassified from equity to profit or loss in 
the period in which the foreign operation is disposed.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of 
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity.

Government grants

Government grants are assistance by government in the form of transfers of resources to an entity in return for past or 
future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operating activities of the entity. 

Forgivable loans are loans which the lender {Israeli Chief Scientist Officer (ISO)} undertakes to waive repayment under 
certain prescribed conditions. In a case where Government grants takes the form of a forgivable loan, a liability is recognized 
in regards to this loan at fair value, based on estimations of future cash flows arising from the relevant grant. It is the Group’s 
policy to designate all such loans as financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss under IAS 39, as such 
all changes in the fair value of such a liability are recognized in the income statement.

Government grants towards research and development costs are netted against related expenses over the periods 
necessary to match them with the related costs. 
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Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered ser-
vice entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with 
actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the actual 
deficit or surplus in the Group’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present 
value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the 
plans.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the 
termination benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in 
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for 
that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits 
expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date.

Share based payments arrangements

Share-based payment transactions of the Company 

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of 
the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based 
transactions are set out in note 35.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis 
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding 
increase in equity. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments 
expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the 
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share premium reserve.
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Taxation

The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in 
the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it 
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from 
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and 
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

 Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability 
is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting 
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination. 

Investment Property

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are measured 
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost. 

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are 
accounted for as investment properties and are measured using the cost model.

Transfers from owner-occupied property to investment property made when the Company ends of owner-occupation.
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Research and development expenditure

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) 
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated: 

�� the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
�� the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
�� the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
�� how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
�� the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 

intangible asset; and
�� the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the 
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible 
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are stated 
in the Consolidated statements of financial position on a historical cost basis, being the historical cost at the date of 
acquisition, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 

Properties in the course of construction for production, administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet determined, are 
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees. Depreciation of these assets, on the 
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
recognised impairment loss.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than land over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight-line method, on the following bases:

Land and Buildings	                                             0 - 5%
Plant and equipment	                                            10 - 33%
Motor Vehicles	                                                           15-20%
Furniture and fittings	                                             6-15%
Leasehold Improvements	                                           10%

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in income.

Judgement is needed to determine whether a property qualifies as investment property. An entity is required to develop 
criteria so that it can exercise that judgement consistently in accordance with the definition of investment property in IAS 
40. Where such a classification is unclear, the Group gives primary weighting to the intention of management. Therefore if 
an asset is designated for future operational use it is not designated as investment property.
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Acquired intangible assets are measured initially at purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives. 

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at 
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
 

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is 
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, 
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least 
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been 
adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable 
direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition. Cost is determined on the “first-in–first-out” basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less 
all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s Consolidated statements of financial position when 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade  and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or 
loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ 
(FVTPL), ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of 
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to 
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as at 
FVTPL. 

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

�� it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
�� on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a 

recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 
�� it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or 
loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS financial assets)

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables,  
(b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Group has investments in unlisted shares that are not traded in an active market but that are also classified as AFS 
financial assets and measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. When the investment is disposed of or is 
determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is 
established.

The fair value of AFS monetary financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency 
and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. The foreign exchange gains and losses that 
are recognised in profit or loss are determined based on the amortised cost of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange 
gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash, and others ) are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.
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Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been 
affected. 

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered 
to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

�� significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
�� breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
�� it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or
�� the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a collective basis 
even if they were assessed not to be impaired individually. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables 
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the 
portfolio past the average credit period of 60 days, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions 
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of 
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods. 

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When 
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at 
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not 
been recognised. 

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit 
or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect of AFS debt securities, impairment losses 
are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related 
to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss. 
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Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated as at 
FVTPL.

The Group holds no financial liabilities for trading.

A financial liability may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

�� such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 
arise; or 

�� the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment 
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

�� it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire combined contract 
(asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit 
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included 
in the ‘finance income/(expenses)’ line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 38.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign 
exchange rate risks, including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps. Further 
details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 38.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. 
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Bank borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, 
including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accrual basis in 
profit or loss account using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the 
extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables and other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to 
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the 
Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation at the Consolidated statements of financial position date, and are discounted to present 
value where the effect is material.

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations under local sale of goods legislation are recognised at the date of 
sale of the relevant products, at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Group’s obligation.

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements



Annual Report 2014 53

O
VERVIEW

           G
O

VERN
A

N
C

E         FIN
A

N
C

IA
LS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the Consolidated statements 
of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of Intangible Assets and goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units (CGU) to 
which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows of the 
CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. The carrying amount of intangible assets and goodwill 
at the consolidated statement of financial position date was $16.4 million. (2013: $ 18.2 million), see note 23.

Judgments with respect to Available for sale Investments carried at fair value
The fair value of Available for sale Investments is determined used discounted cash flows based on assumptions supported 
by prices and observable market rates. The Company’s management used the services of an external valuator for the 
measurement of fair value and examined the assumptions that were used. For further information about the assumptions 
used by the Group, see Note 38. 

Judgments with respect to the calculation of tax provision
The Group operates a number of companies in varying tax jurisdictions. Each jurisdiction has its own tax regime, and 
the differences are often complex. In assessing the tax liability in each Company management are required to exercise 
judgement as to the liabilities that may arise in these differing regimes.

Judgments with respect to actuarial assumptions
The assessment of actuarial assets and liabilities requires management to exercise judgement with regards to a number of 
underlying assumptions including the rate of future pay rises, the rate of leavers and other actuarial assumptions in regards 
to mortality rates. See note 36.

Judgments with respect to a liability to the chief scientist
The assessment of the liabilities to the chief scientist requires management to exercise judgement in regards to future 
royalty-bearing revenues and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate fair value. The total liability at the year-end is 
$3.9 million.(2013: $4.3 million).

Judgments with respect to deferred tax assets 
The Group has deferred tax assets related to tax loss carry-forwards in the US and Israel, Based on management’s estimation 
that it will be able to utilize them in the foreseeable future. See note 26.

Note 5 - Revenues
An analysis of the Group’s revenues is as follows:	

(*) For more details see note 6

                                           Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Sales of goods (*) 92,883 98,335

Services (*) 16,364 15,820

109,247 114,155

Note 4 - Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management has made the follow-
ing judgments that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements (apart from those 
involving estimations, which are dealt with below):

�� Judgments with respect to the classification of the functional currency of entities in the Group and the non-capitalization 
of development expenses.
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(*) Excluding other operating expenses (amortization and impairment of Intangible assets). 
 
Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the year. 

Note 6 - Business and Geographical Segments

Business segments

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of 
segment performance focuses on the types of goods or services delivered or provided, and in respect of two major 
operating divisions – Telecommunications and BATM Medical. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its 
primary segment information. The principal products and services of each of these divisions are as follows:

Telecommunications –mostly includes the research and development, production and marketing of data communication 
products in the field of local and wide area networks and premises management systems. Sales for this segment are global.

BATM Medical – engaged in the research and development, production, marketing and distribution of medical products, 
primarily laboratory diagnostic equipment and sterilization equipment. Sales for this segment are primarily in Europe.

A.  Segment revenues and segment results

Year ended 31 December 2014

Year ended 31 December 2013

Telecommunications
$’000s

BATM Medical
$’000s

Unallocated
$’000s

Total
$’000s

Revenues 49,962 58,790 495 109,247

Adjusted profit (loss)(*) 285 (1,576) 271 (1,020)

Reconciliation-Other operating expenses 1,708))

Operating loss from continuing operation (2,728)

Net Finance expense (944)

Loss before tax from continuing operation (3,672)

Telecommunications
$’000s

BATM Medical
$’000s

Unallocated
$’000s

Total
$’000s

Revenues 60,558 53,053 544 114,155

Adjusted Operating profit (loss)(*) 2,042 (2,253) 307 96

Reconciliation-Other operating expenses (5,534)

Operating loss from continuing operation (5,438)

Net Finance expense (609)

Lost before tax from continuing operation (6,047)
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B.  Segment assets, liabilities and other information

As at 31 December 2014

As at 31 December 2013

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from operations from its major products and services.

In addition to the depreciation and amortisation reported above, in 2013 impairment losses of 2.5 million were recognised 
in respect of other intangible assets. These impairment losses were attributable to the Telecommunications segments.

                                                    Year ended 31  December

2 0 14
$’000

2 0 13
$’000

Telecommunication Products 39,101 49,997

Software services 11,299 11,054

Distribution of medical products 37,763 31,291

Clinical Chemistry diagnostic products 10,845 12,926

Sterilization products 10,239 8,887

109,247 114,155

C.  Revenue from major products and services

Telecommunications
$’000s

BATM Medical
$’000s

Unallocated
$’000s

Total
$’000s

Assets 89,467 49,060 3,575 142,102

Liabilities 24,683 17,982 42,665

Depreciation and amortization 1,777 1,681 133 3,591

Additions to non-current assets 2,044 1,350 3,394

Telecommunications
$’000s

BATM Medical
$’000s

Unallocated
$’000s

Total
$’000s

Assets 97,414 48,791 3,802 150,007

Liabilities 25,648 17,654 43,302

Depreciation and amortization 2,948 2,015 108 5,071

Additions non-current assets 589 1,269 1,858
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The Group operates in three principal geographical areas – United States of America (USA), Israel and Europe. 

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its segment assets by geographical location are 
presented by the location of operations and are detailed below:

D.  Geographical information

Revenue from external customers                    Long-lived assets (**) Acquisition of segment assets

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

USA 21,931 32,396 20,487 28,587 591 10

Israel 29,773 29,903 75,300 76,044 1,714 623

Moldova 27,920 25,004 14,594 13,375 65 805

Italy 10,736 12,875 11,845 14,557 290 328

Rest of Europe (*) 16,650 13,977 18,870 17,272 734 92

Far East 2,237 - 1,006 172 - -

Total 109,247 114,155 142,102 150,007 3,394 1,858

Note 7 - Cost of revenues

                             Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Direct costs- Components and subcontractors 59,760 61,280

Changes in Inventory  (1,084) (3,609)

Salaries and related benefits 11,857 12,251

Overhead and depreciation 2,870 2,676

Other expenses 1,740 1,966

       75,143        74,564

(*) Including the countries: Romania, Hungary and U.K.
(**) Include financial assets and deferred tax assets.
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Note 8 - Sales and marketing expenses

Note 9 - General and administrative expenses

                              Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Salaries and related benefits 6,845 7,094

Commissions 1,240 2,004

Outside services 1,735 1,742

Advertising and sales promotion 1,144 1,052

Overhead and depreciation 1,990 1,905

Travelling and other expenses 2,289 2,949

15,243 16,746

                             Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Salaries and related benefits 5,786 5,951

Professional services(*) 1,196 1,033

Overhead and depreciation 1,626 1,621

Other expenses 2,557 2,314

11,165 10,919

(*) Including

Auditors’ remuneration for audit services 240 245

Amounts payable to Deloitte by the Company and its subsidiaries’ undertakings in respect of non-audit services in 2014 
were $19,000 (2013: $22,000). In addition, payables in respect of non-audit services to others than the Company’s auditors, 
for tax and internal audit services in 2014, were $43,000 and nil, respectively (2013: $53,000 and $10,000, respectively).
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                             Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Salaries and related benefits 5,452 7,413

Components and subcontractors 3,141 3,183

Overhead and depreciation 1,098 1,012

Other expenses 298 779

Government grants (1,273) (557)

8,716 11,830

Note 11 - Staff costs

The average monthly number of employees in 2014 (including executive directors) was 819 (2013: 772).

                               Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

Wages and salaries 24,513 26,982

Social security costs 4,030 4,668

Other pension costs 1,397 1,059

29,940 32,709

Executive Directors’ emoluments 581 567
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                                Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Interest on bonds - 21

Interest on bank deposits 145 103

Profit on derivative financial instruments - 74

Gain on marketable securities 171 -

Other 194 58

510 256

Note 12 - Finance income

                              Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Foreign exchange differences - (494)

Loss on derivative financial instruments (218) -

Interest on tax assessment (696) -

Interest on loans (540) (371)

(1,454) (865)

Note 13 – Finance expenses

                                  Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Current tax  (371)  (289)

Tax on previous years (155) -

Deferred tax (Note 26) 666 603

140 314

Note 14 - Income tax benefit (expense)
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Taxation under various laws:

Israel

The Company and its Israeli subsidiaries are assessed under the provisions of the Income Tax Law (Inflationary Adjustments), 
1985, pursuant to which the results for tax purposes are measured in Israeli currency in real terms in accordance with changes 
in the Israeli CPI. The Company and its subsidiaries are assessed for tax purposes on an unconsolidated basis.

The Company is an “industrial Company” as defined in the Israeli Law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxes) 1969, and, as 
such, is entitled to certain tax benefits, mainly increased depreciation rates, the right to claim public issuance expenses and 
the amortization of patents and other intangible property rights as a deduction for tax purposes.

The production facilities of the Company have been granted “approved enterprise” (see below) status for several separate 
programs under the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959, as amended. Under this law, income attributable 
to each of these programs (in a manner prescribed in such law and its regulations) is fully exempt from tax for eight to ten 
years. 

BATM has also been granted an Approved Enterprise status for the construction of the Company’s plant at Yokneam, on terms 
similar to the above mentioned. The last year of benefits was 2010.

The above tax benefits are conditioned upon fulfilment of the requirements stipulated by the aforementioned law and the 
regulations promulgated there under, as well as the criteria set forth in the certificates of approval. In the event of failure by 
the Company to comply with these conditions, the tax benefits could be cancelled, in whole or in part, and the Company 
would be required to refund the amount of the cancelled benefits, plus interest and certain inflation adjustments.

In August 2013 “The Arrangements Law“ (hereinafter - the “Law” ) was published , which legislated tax changes as follows:

1. Raising the corporate tax rate from tax year 2014 to a rate of 26.5 % (up1.5%).
2. Fixing the Encouragement of Capital Investments, the tax rate applicable to the Company in Development Area A from 
January 1, 2014 is 9% (instead of 7 % and 6 % in 2014-2015 and thereafter, respectively).

As a result, there was an increase in the deferred tax assets of the Company as of December 31, 2013 in the amount of $ 270 
thousand credited against tax expenses.

During the year 2013, approval was received from the tax authorities in Israel regarding the merger for tax purposes of 
the subsidiary Vigilant with the Company. Following the merger, $ 21 million losses were attributed to the Company and 
increased the tax loss carry-forwards. As part of the merger approval, there are limitations for utilization of these losses in the 
future. Legally Vigilant was merged into the Company during 2014 and no longer exists.

The Company has tax loss carry-forwards of $73.2 million in Israeli subsidiaries of which $66.7 million the Group didn’t create 
deferred tax assets in respect of such losses. According to the Israeli law there is no expiry date to use such losses.

On December 6, 2011, following the tax reform recommendations of the Trachtenberg Committee, the Knesset passed several 
changes to the Income Tax Ordinance regarding the reduction of tax burden (Legislative Amendments).

The Company has received final tax assessments for the years up to and including the 2012 tax year. The subsidiaries have not 
been assessed for tax since their incorporation.

During the year, the Company negotiated with the Tax Authority in Israel regarding the tax   assessments of the years  
2007–2012. On January 2015, the Company signed an agreement with the Tax Authorities regarding the tax assessments in 
respect of the years   2007 – 2012, the total effect on the financial statements was $696 thousand interest expenses and $155 
thousands tax expenses. On February 2015 the Company paid $3.3m with regards to the tax assessments.
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The United States of America

Since acquisition, Telco Systems has incurred losses for tax purposes. In addition, in accordance with U.S. tax law, Telco 
Systems made an election to amortize a substantial part of the excess cost paid by the Company in its acquisition over a 
period of 15 years. This has resulted in tax loss carry-forwards which may be expire before having been utilized. Accordingly 
the future use of part of these benefits is uncertain. Other US subsidiaries are assessed for tax purposes on a consolidated 
basis with Telco Systems. Deferred tax assets of $4.3 million have been recognised in respect of such losses. The total 
amount remaining to amortise for tax purposes is $9.2 Million and the amount of brought forward losses is $309.2 Million. 
According to US law, losses can be carried forward for 20 years. Accordingly, the first portion of the tax losses in the US 
subsidiary will expire in 2021.

Other jurisdictions

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. The Group has tax loss 
carry-forwards of $20.2 million in Europe subsidiaries for which the Group didn’t create deferred tax assets.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows:

                                   Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Loss before tax: (3,672) (6,047)

Tax benefit at the Israeli corporation tax rate of 26.5% (2013: 25%) (973) (1,512)

Tax exempt income (98) 261

Expenses with unrecognized deferred tax on income or losses 406 1,474

Utilization of tax loss carry forward - (1,056)

Tax on the basis of previous years 155 -

Different tax rates in foreign regimes and other differences 370 519

Tax benefits for the year (140) (314)
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Profit (loss) for the year from discontinued operations:

Cash flows from discontinued operations:

Earnings per share (In cents) from discontinued operations:

                                   Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Revenues - 1,889

Expenses - 1,570

Profit (loss) before tax - 319

Tax expenses - -

Profit (loss) for the year - 319

                                   Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Net cash inflows from operating activities - 1,075

Net cash inflows from investing activities - -

Net cash outflows from financing activities - -

Net cash inflows - 1,075

                                   Year ended 31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Basic and Diluted - 0.08

 (a)  Disposal of Legacy operations

During June 2012, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose of its time division multiplexing (TDM) based products 
(“Legacy”) business (excluding one product line that was reintegrated into the Group’s portfolio – and that was previously 
a part of the disposal group that was classified as held for sale), which formed part of the Group’s Telecom business. This 
disposal, which was completed during the six month period ended 30 June 2013, is consistent with the Group’s long-term 
policy to focus on growing the Carrier Ethernet portfolio.

(b)  Analysis of profit for the year from discontinued operations

The results of the discontinued operations included in the profit for the year are set out below. The comparative profit and 
cash flows from discontinued operations have been re-presented to include those operations classified as discontinued in 
the current year.

Note 15 - Discontinued operations
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Note 16 - Earnings (loss) per share

Note 17 – Financial assets

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

(*) Includes a total of $ 1.5 million of cash deposits designated as security for short term bank credit and presented in 
financial assets. 

The average interest rate of deposits is 0.58% and 0.57% in 2014 and 2013 respectively.

                                              Year ended 31 December

2 0 14 2 0 13

Loss for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share ($’000s) 
attributable to Owners of the Company

(3,176) (4,513)

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes  
of basic earnings per share

403,146,217 403,039,724

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Share options - -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted 
earnings per share

403,146,217 403,039,724

Weighted average number of non-dilutive potential ordinary shares 85,760 86,945

                                              31 December

2 0 14 2 0 13

Interest-bearing deposits(*) 13,082 20,709

Held for trading bonds 5,892 6,303

18,974 27,012
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Note 18 - Trade and other receivables 

Note 19 - Inventories

(*)VAT reclassified from other debtors and presented separately

The average credit period taken on sales of goods is 69 days (2013: 55 days). No interest is charged on the receivables. An 
allowance has been made at 31 December 2014 for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods of $2,234,000 
(2013: $1,927,000). This allowance has been determined by reference to past default experience. The directors consider 
that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value. 

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts that are past due at the end of the reporting period for which the 
Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful debts because there has not been a significant change in credit 
quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. 

Credit risk

The  Group’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables and investments. The Group’s 
credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and receivables. The amounts presented in the Consolidated statements of 
financial position are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made where there is an 
identified loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows. 
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and 
customers.

During the financial year 2014, $ 2.0 million of Inventory was impaired due to slow moving inventory, and expensed to the 
Profit and Loss account (2013: $ 306 thousand). 

                                         31 December

2 0 14 2 0 13

Trade receivable account 23,779 26,847

Participation in research and development: Government of Israel 788 763

VAT 1,770 1,516(*)

Tax authorities 801 784

Prepaid expenses 3,330 2,981

Other debtors 557 661(*)

31,025 33,552

                                         31 December

2 0 14 2 0 13

Raw materials 7,744 7,233

Work-in-progress 2,503 1,887

Finished goods 13,955 13,998

24,202 23,118
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(*) Additional information

The Company has been leasing the land on which the building in Yokneam has been built from the Israel Lands Authority 
under a capitalized lease for a period of 49 years ending on July 2044.

Note 20 – Property, plant and equipment

Land and 
buildings (*)

$’000s

Plant and 
equipment

$’000s
Motor Vehicles

$’000s

Furniture and 
fittings
$’000s

Leasehold
Improvements

$’000s
Total

$’000s

Cost 

At 1 January 2013 20,045 11,182 2,839 3,570 839 38,475

Additions 496 666 172 308 24 1,666

Disposals - (83) (526) (31) - (640)

Effect of translation adjustment 91 51 13 16 4 175

At 31 December 2013 20,632 11,816 2,498 3,863 867 39,676

Additions 465 1,281 86 144 92 2,068

Disposals - (44) (1,184) (114) - (1,342)

Effect of translation adjustment (724) (415) (88) (136) (29) (1,392)

At 31 December 2014 20,373 12,638 1,312 3,757 930 39,010

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2013 2,944 8,952 1,832 2,848 722 17,298

Depreciation expense 671 573 436 277 74 2,031

Disposals - (47) (410) (2) - (459)

Effect of translation adjustment (8) (31) (5) (8) (2) (54)

At 31 December 2013 3,607 9,447 1,853 3,115 794 18,816

Depreciation expense 649 644 143 288 51 1,775

Disposals - (8) (1,105) (4) - (1,117)

Effect of translation adjustment (157) (345) (69) (114) (29) (714)

At 31 December 2014 4,099 9,738 822 3,285 816 18,760

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2014 16,274 2,900 490 472 114 20,250

At 31 December 2013 17,025 2,369 645 748 73     20,860
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Note 21 –   Investment Property 

The useful lives used; between 10-50 years.

(*) See  note  22

Amounts recognized in the consolidated income statements

                                                     31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

Rental income from Investment property 495 544

Operating expenses related to Income  
from Investment property 

(180) (207)

Operating expenses related to Investment property  
which produced no income

(44) (30)

                                                     31 December

2 0 14
$’000s

2 0 13
$’000s

At 1 January 3,802 3,830

Allocated to  Assets classified as held for sale-cost (*) (1,159) -

Allocated to Assets classified as held for  
sale- Accumulated Depreciation (*)

243 -

Depreciation expense (85) (108)

Exchange rate differences (142) 80

At 31 December 2,659 3,802
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Note 22 –   Assets classified as held for sale 

Additional Information:

Fair value disclosures for investment properties measured using the cost model:

Details of the Group’s freehold land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2014 
are as follows: 

The fair value of completed investment property is determined using a discounted cash flow (DCF).

Under the DCF method, a property’s fair value is estimated using explicit assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities 
of ownership over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value. As an accepted method within the income approach 
to valuation, the DCF method involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a real property interest. To this projected 
cash flow series, an appropriate, market-derived discount rate is applied to establish the present value of the cash inflows 
associated with the real property.

The duration of the cash flow and the specific timing of inflows and outflows are determined by events such as rent 
reviews, lease renewal and related lease up periods, re-letting, redevelopment, or refurbishment. The appropriate duration 
is typically driven by market behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of real property.

In the case of investment properties, periodic cash flow is typically estimated as gross income, non-recoverable expenses, 
collection losses, maintenance cost, agent and commission costs and other operating and management expenses. The 
series of periodic net cash inflows, along with an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection 
period, is then discounted.

During February 2015 the Company sold its building in Kfar Netter for a consideration of $1.5m, the Company classified 
the amortized cost of the building to Assets classified as held for sale in the current assets. 

                                                     31 December 2014

At  Amortised Cost
$’000s

Fair value level 3
$’000s

A  Yokneam, Israel 1,693 3,021

C  Rome, Italy 966 1,328
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Note 22 - Goodwill

The Group tests annually goodwill for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be 
impaired. The Group has two reportable business segments and goodwill is associated with CGUs within the BATM Medical 
segment or CGUs within the Telecoms segment. The CGU of BATM Medical at the amount of $ 5,111 thousands (2013: $ 
5,167 thousands) has been divided into 3 CGUs: Sterilization, Diagnostic and Distribution. The CGUs within the Telecoms 
segment at the amount of $ 6,348 thousands (2013:$ 6,929 thousands).

The Goodwill is allocated to the following CGUs:

Sterilization: $2,550 thousands (2013: $2,550 thousands)

Diagnostic: $1,487 thousands (2013: $1,427 thousands)

Distribution: $1,074 thousands (2013: $1,190 thousands)

Telecommunications: $1,984 thousands (2013: $1,984 thousands)

Software Services: $4,364 thousands (2013: $4,945 thousands)

The recoverable amounts of the CGU are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in 
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct 
costs during the period. Pre-tax discount rates of between 12% - 17.5% have been used which is consistent with the rate 
used for determining the value of purchased intangibles. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on recent 
history and expectations of future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budget approved by management and 
extrapolates indefinite cash flows based on estimated growth rates. For the purposes of this calculation management 
have used a revenue growth rates of 5% for years 2-5 and then 0% thereafter, for the Telco CGU and  10% for years 2-5, and 
then 1% thereafter, for the Telecoms Outsourcing CGU and 10% for years 2-5  respectively, and then 0% thereafter for  the 
Sterilization and 11%, 25%, 19% and 5% for years 2-5  respectively, and then 1% thereafter for the Diagnostic and 10% for 
years 2-5  respectively, and then 0% thereafter for the Distribution. 

Fixed expenses have been assumed to grow at 1.5% for years 2-5 and then have been assumed to remain constant thereafter  
in the Telecoms CGU and 5%, 7%, 3% and 3% for years 2-5, and then have been assumed to remain constant thereafter for 
BATM Medical. Variable expenses (directly linked to sales) have been assumed to remain as a constant percentage of sales 
throughout the forecast period in the BATM Medical CGU, and to decrease as a constant percentage of sales throughout 
the forecast period in the Telecoms Outsourcing CGU increasing by 3%, 3%, 2%, 1% and 0% in years 1-5 respectively and 
have assumed to remain constant thereafter. The rates used above reflect historical rates achieved and expected levels for 
2015 but then are prudently adjusted for subsequent years. 
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2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Balance at 01 January 12,096 11,494

Additions in the year (1)215 166

Foreign Exchange difference (852) 436

Balance at 31 December 11,459 12,096

(1)   PPA with respect to the additions had not been completed.

Sensitivity of the recoverable amount to changes in the key assumptions

The recoverable amount of the Telecom outsourcing activity is equal to the carrying amount. Reduction of 5% growth rate 
taken into account in calculating the value in use of the activity will result in a decrease of $1.6 million recoverable amount 
of the activity. Decrease in growth rate as stated will lead to changes in other assumptions taken for the calculation of value 
in use .Increase of 2% in pre-tax discount rate taken into account in calculating the value in use of the activity will result in 
a decrease of $1.2 million recoverable amount of the activity.

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements



BATM Advanced Communications Ltd. 70

O
VE

RV
IE

W
   

   
   

  G
O

VE
RN

A
N

C
E 

   
   

  F
IN

A
N

C
IA

LS

Customer
Relationships

and Backlog
Technology Other (*) Total

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Cost

At 1 January 2013 16,377 10,593 1,846 28,816

Additions 119 - 11 130

Effect of translation adjustments 139 288 84 511

At 31 December 2013 16,635 10,881 1,941 29,457

Additions - - 1,111 1,111

Effect of translation adjustments (1,110) (413) (299) (1,822)

At 31 December 2014 15,525 10,468 2,753 28,746

Accumulated amortization

At 1 January 2013 10,283 5,913 1,296 17,492

Effect of translation adjustments 425 7 (90) 342

Impairment (**) 827 1,667 - 2,494

Amortization expense 1,761 1,098 181 3,040

At 31 December 2013 13,296 8,685 1,387 23,368

Effect of translation adjustments (1,252) (158) 134 (1,276)

Amortization expense 1,244 368 96 1,708

At 31 December 2014 13,288 8,895 1,617 23,800

Carrying amount 

At 31 December 2014 2,237 1,573 1,136 4,946

At 31 December 2013 3,339 2,196 554 6,089

Note 24 - Other Intangible Assets

(*) include R&D in process, Brand name and Non-competition.
(**) Attributed to the Telecommunications.

Other intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range from 3 to 11 
years.

Amortization by categories;

Customer Relationships and Backlog: mainly 7 to 10 years. 
Technology: mainly 10 to 11 years.
Other: 3 to 10 years. 
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Note 25 - Subsidiaries

A list of the significant direct and indirect investments in subsidiaries, including the name, country of incorporation, and 
percent of ownership interest as at 31 December 2014 is presented below.

Name of subsidiary Principal Activity Country of incorporation Ownership interest Date of acquisition

Telco Systems Inc. Telecommunication United States of America 100% April 2000

A.M.S. 2000 Distribution Romania 100% June 2007

NGSoft Ltd Software Israel 100% October 2007

Becor Distribution Moldova 51% July 2008

Adaltis Diagnostics Italy 100% November 2009

ISE Diagnostics Italy 100% February 2009
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Intangible Assets
$’000s

Depreciation differences  
and other

$’000s

Total
$’000s

At 1 January 2013 1,254 234 1,488

Credit to income (291) 63 (228)

Effect of translation adjustments 70 9 79

At 31 December 2013 1,033 306 1,339

Credit to income (236) 102 (134)

Effect of translation adjustments (72) 41 (31)

At 31 December 2014 725 449 1,174

Note 26 - Deferred tax

The following are deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current 
and prior reporting period (see also Note 14).

Deferred  tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

The following are unrecognized taxable temporary differences associated with investments and interests:

Taxable temporary differences in relation to investments in subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been 
recognized are attributable to: 31 December 2014 $3,466 thousands (31 December 2013 $3,216 thousands).

Deferred 
development costs

$’000s

Retirement benefit 
obligations

$’000s

Losses carried 
forward 

$’000s
Other 

$’000s
Total

$’000s

At 1 January 2013 382 189 4,281 243 5,095

Credit (charge) to income (4) 7 353 19 375

Effect of translation adjustments - 13 - - 13

At 31 December 2013 378 209 4,634 262 5,483

Credit (charge) to income (229) 19 650 92 532

Effect of translation adjustments - (25) - - (25)

At 31 December 2014 149 203 5,284 354 5,990
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Note 27 - Financial liabilities and other

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average 
credit period taken for trade purchases is 53 days (2013: 38 days).The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade 
payables approximates to their fair value.

*Including liability to a related party, amount of $485 thousands.

                                                      31 December

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Trade creditors 12,005 14,521

Salary accruals 5,523 6,565

VAT and other tax 194 151

Liability to  the office of the chief scientist 1,012 1,759

Other creditors and accruals * 9,239 6,765

27,973 29,761

Trade and other payables

Long-term liabilities	

                                                       31 December

2014 2013

$’000s $’000s

Bank Loans (1) 1,342 1,858

Liability to the office of the chief scientist (2) 3,220 3,672

Contingent  liability on acquisition of business combinations 320 -

Government institutions 101 160

4,983 5,690

(1)  During 2013 one of our subsidiary Becor received a credit limit from the Bank up to 1,350, thousands Euro. Becor 
actually received during December 2013 457 thousands Euro which will be repaid in 6 monthly equal payments starting 
with January 2015.

(2) This liability (hybrid instrument containing embedded derivative) is designated at FVTPL according to relevant 
accounting policy. (see also note 38(k)).
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   Warranty provision
Onerous Lease 

provision(1)
Tax and

Other provision(2) Total

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

At 1 January 2014 383 12 2,431 2,826

Additional provision - - 813 813

Utilisation of provision (68) - - (68)

Payment during the year - (9) - (9)

At 31 December 2014 315 3 3,244 3,562

Included in current liabilities 3,562

Included in non-current liabilities -

3,562

The warranty provision represents management’s best estimate of the Group’s liability under warranties granted on the 
Group’s products, based mainly on past experience.

Tax provision represents liability for the Israeli tax authorities due to final tax assessments of the Company for the years 
2007-2012, which were agreed with the tax authorities at the beginning of 2015.

Note 29 - Share capital

2014 2013

Authorised: 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000

Issued and fully paid: 403,150,820 403,140,820

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.

During the year, 10,000 options of one employees were exercised into shares.

Ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 each (number of shares).

Note 30 - Business Combinations

During 2013 a subsidiary of the Company- NG Soft acquired the major assets and intellectual property of Weblogic, for a 
consideration of $155 thousands. Weblogic is engaged in the designing and development of WEB products.

In April 2014 - NG Soft acquired the major assets and intellectual property of Stanga, for a consideration of $208 thousands. 
Stanga engaged in the animation and production studio.

In October 2014 - NG Soft acquired the major assets and intellectual property of Cdtech  and Optiwise, for a consideration of 
$937 thousands. Cdtech provides technological, creative and commercial Internet solutions and online marketing agency 
specializing in promoting businesses online.

The initial accounting treatment for the acquisition of Cdtech, as shown in these financial statements is temporary. 

Until the publication of the financial Statements, the Company has not yet completed the purchase price allocation to the 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of Cdtech.
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* Including in other operating expenses

Note 31 – Investments

Available for sale Investments carried at fair value
 
During 2013 the Company made an investment of $3.5m into the consortium for the construction of a new nationwide 
fiber optic infrastructure network in Israel in the name of Israel Broadband Company (2013) Ltd (Hereinafter - “IBC”). As part 
of the investment in IBC, the Company has committed to transfer additional NIS 25m ($6.5m) upon demand of IBC. NIS 
6.25m ($1.6m) as additional equity investment in IBC and NIS 18.75m ($4.9m) will be given as a shareholder loan. For the 
total amount of NIS 25m ($6.5m), the Company has given bank guarantees.

In 2014, following IBC demand, the Company increased the investment in IBC and recorded liability of $1.6m which was 
paid during the first quarter of 2015.

In addition, the IBC investment was re-appraised by an external valuator and increased the fair value of the available-for-
sale financial assets in amount of $0.47m in 2014 (2013: nil) - See note 38.

The rollout of the network, including the connection of the first clients, started at the second half of 2014.

Note 32 - Note to the cash flow statements

Year ended 31 December

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Operating loss from continuing and discontinued operations (2,728) (5,119)

Adjustments for:

Amortization of intangible assets * 1,708 3,040

Impairment of intangible assets * - 2,494

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment property 1,883 2,031

Stock options granted to employees 42 124

Increase (decrease) in retirement benefit obligation 91 72

Decrease in provisions (77) (75)

Increase in inventory (3,044) (2,341)

Decrease (increase) in receivables 290 (844)

Increase (decrease) in payables (3,314) 2,920

Income taxes paid (222) (1,419)

Income taxes received 341 148

Interest paid (252) (397)

Net cash from (used in) operating activities (5,282) 634
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Note 33 - Guarantees 

On July 2013 the group has provided a bank guarantee at the amount of 25 million NIS ($6.4 million) to IBC (Israeli Broadband 
Company) due July 2015.

At the Consolidated statements of financial position date the revalue balance of the guarantee  is 25.2 million NIS 
($6.5million).

In the first quarter of 2015 the group paid of 6.25 million NIS (1.6 million) of the guarantee.

Note 34 - Operating lease arrangements

The Group as lessee

                              Year ended 31 December

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Minimum lease payments under operating leases 

Recognised in income for the year 1,546 1,378

At the Consolidated statements of financial position date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease 
payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

                           31 December

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Within one year 622 325

In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,440 387

2,062 712

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated 
for an average term of 3 years and rentals are fixed for an average of 3 years.

Property rental income earned during 2014 was $495,000 (2013: $544,000). The properties under lease agreements to third 
parties by the Group have committed tenants for most of the property for the next year.

At the Consolidated statements of financial position date, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future 
minimum lease payments:

The Group as lessor

                               31 December

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Within one year 280 456

In the second to fifth years inclusive 308 331

588 787
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Note 35 - Share-based payments

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company has a share option scheme for all employees of the Group. Options are usually exercisable at a price equal 
to the average quoted market price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant. The vesting period is between three to 
five years. Unexercised options expire ten years from the date of grant. Options are forfeited when the employee leaves 
the Group.

Options to certain management employees are exercisable at a price equal to the average quoted market price of the 
Company’s shares less 10% on the date of grant.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

            2014              2013

Number of share 
options

Weighted
average

exercise price
Number of share 

options

Weighted
average

exercise price

(in GBP) (in GBP)

Outstanding at beginning of year 3,941,289 0.2978 7,266,789 0.2940

Granted during the year 600,000 0.1712 300,000 0.1937

Forfeited during the year (253,052) 0.2205 (3,450,500) 0.2892

Exercise during the year (10,000) 0.1684 (175,000) 0.1296

Outstanding at the end of the year 4,278,237 0.2849 3,941,289 0.2978

Exercisable at the end of the year 3,444,237 0.3033 3,357,877 0.3108

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during 2014 was 0.1684 Great British 
Pounds (“GBP”). The options outstanding at 31 December 2014 had a weighted average exercise price of 0.2849 GBP, and 
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 5.26 years. In 2014, options were granted on August 3 and December 10. 
The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted on those dates is $166,000. In 2013, options were granted 
on May 12 and December 26.The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted on those dates is $94,000.
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2014
$’000s

Weighted average share price (GBP) 0.17

Weighted average exercise price (GBP) 0.17

Expected volatility 33-34

Expected life 7

Risk-free rate 1.3%

Expected dividends 2.5%

The inputs into the Black-Scholes model are as follows:

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Weighted average share price (GBP) 0.18 0.18

Weighted average exercise price (GBP) 0.17 0.13

Expected volatility 33-61 34-61

Expected life 7 7

Risk-free rate 1.3%-2.2% 1.3%-2.2%

Expected dividends 2.5% 2.5%

The inputs into the Black-Scholes model for the options granted in 2014 are as follows:

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 
1 year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of 
non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised total expenses of $42,000 and $124,000 related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions 
in 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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The inputs into the Black-Scholes model for the options granted in 2014 are as follows:

Note 36 - Retirement benefit obligation

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit schemes for all qualifying employees in Israel. The assets of 
the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees. Where there are employees 
who leave the schemes prior to vesting fully in the contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced by 
the amount of forfeited contributions.

Total expenses related to the contribution retirement benefit schemes are: $527 thousands in the year 2014 (2013: $588 
thousands).

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the United States are members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme 
operated by the government of the Unites States. The subsidiary contributes a specified percentage of payroll costs to the 
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit 
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

Defined benefit plans

The Group operates defined benefit schemes for qualifying employees of the Company and its subsidiaries in Israel and in 
Italy. 

In Israel this scheme provides severance pay provision as required by Israeli law. Under the plans, the employees are entitled 
to post-employment benefits equivalent to years of service multiplied by 8.33% of final salary on either attainment of 
a retirement age of 67 (men) and 64 (women) or redundancy. No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these 
employees.

In Italy each employee is entitled to have a severance payment as soon as he ends the employment under one of the 
conditions specified below as except those who decide to choose private insurance during the employment. Principal 
conditions to release the liability are: 1. Full retirement age 2. Accumulation of minimal working years 3. Termination of 
employment by the employer 4. Death of employee 5. Occurance of employee’s disability.

The most recent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out 
at 26 February 2015 by Elior Weissberg, FILAA on behalf of Elior Weissberg Ltd. a member of the Institute of Actuaries. The 
present value of the defined benefit, obligation, the related current service cost and past service cost were measured using 
the projected unit credit method.

The discount rate was based on high quality corporate bonds and not on government bonds which were used until 2013.

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

2014 2013

Discount rate(s) 3.6% 4.2%

Expected rate(s) of salary increase 3-4% 1-4%

Expected inflation rate 1.4% 2.5%

Employee turnover rate 13% 13%
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The amount included in the Consolidated statements of financial position arising from the entity’s obligation in respect of 
its defined benefit plans is as follows:

                                 31 December

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation 3,748 5,984

Fair value of plan assets (2,962) (4,956)

Net liability 786 1,028

Amounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of these defined benefit plans are as follows:

                                    Year ended 31 December

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Current service cost 331 406

Interest on obligation 172 213

Return on plan assets  
(excluding amounts included in net interest expense)

(151) (196)

Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset 31 50

Re-measurement on the net defined benefit liability  
and assets from changes in financial assumptions 

16 (65)

Total 399 408

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation in the current period were as follows:

                                       Year ended 31 December

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Opening defined benefit obligation 5,984 5,137

Current service cost 331 406

Interest cost 172 213

Remeasurement (gains)/losses arising  
from changes in financial assumptions

(97) 42

Benefits paid (1,561) (386)

Re-classified to short-term (603) -

Exchange rate differences (478) 572

Closing defined benefit obligation 3,748 5,984
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                                       Year ended 31 December

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Opening fair value of plan assets 4,956 4,181

Interest income 120 175

Re-measurement gains return on plan assets  
(excluding amounts included in net interest expense)

(117) 105

Contributions from the employer 253 350

Benefits paid (1,561) (386)

Re-classified to short-term (269)  -

Exchange rate differences (420) 531

Closing fair value of plan assets 2,962 4,956

Movements in the present value of the plan assets in the current period were as follows:

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note 37 - Related party transactions

Remuneration of key management personnel

The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the group, is set out below in aggregate for 
each of the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. 

Table A – Emoluments of the Directors with comparatives

Basic 
Salary

$000

Social 
benefits

$000

Pension 
benefits

$000

Performance
Bonus

$000

2014
Total
$000

2013
Total
$000

Zvi Marom 315 26 8 - 349 316

Ofer Bar Ner 190 32 10 - 232 251

Peter Sheldon 54 - - - 54 58

Gideon Chitayat 45 - - - 45 51

Elka Nir 48 - - - 48 39

Gideon Barak  46 - - -  46  11

Amos Shani - - - - - 12

The interests of the Directors and their immediate families, both beneficial and non-beneficial, in the ordinary shares of the 
Company at 31 December 2014 and 2013 were as follows:

(*) On January 5 2015 Dr. Gideon Chitayat acquired an additional 1,400,000 shares of BATM.

(**) During April 2015 Dr. Zvi Marom acquired an additional 500,000 shares of BATM.

Table B – Interests of the Directors

Ordinary shares 2014 2013

Zvi Marom (**) 93,894,500 93,894,500

Ofer Bar Ner 212,500 212,000

Peter Sheldon 150,000 750,000

Gideon Chitayat(*) 600,000 -

Gideon Barak - -

Elka Nir - -

The total liability for the Directors in the year-end 2014 was $25 thousand (2013: $20 thousands) related to December 2014 
and 2013 wages paid in January 2015 and 2014 respectively and Bonus for 2013 paid in January 2013.
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No options were held by the Directors during the year.

Table C – Share Options

The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the group, is set out below in aggregate for 
each of the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Table D – Remuneration of key management personnel

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Short-term employee benefits 594 535

Post-employment benefits 18 16

Other long-term benefits 19 16

Termination benefits 39 35

Share-based payment - -

670 602

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note 38 – Financial Instruments

(a)  Capital risk management

Management’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base in order to preserve the ability of the Company to continue 
operating so that it may provide a return on capital to its shareholders, benefits to other holders of interests in the Company 
such as credit providers and employees of the Company, and sustain future development of the business. Management 
of the Company monitors return on capital, defined as the total amount of equity attributable to the shareholders of the 
Company and also the amount of dividends distributed to the ordinary shareholders.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure on a periodic basis. As a part of this review the management 
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on management’s recommendations, 
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends. The Group’s overall strategy remains 
unchanged from 2006.

(b)  Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

 (c)  Categories of financial instruments

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents (*) 15,940 13,812

Fair value through profit or loss 5,892 6,302

Deposits and receivables 41,536 53,200

Available for sale Investments carried at fair value 5,741 3,585

Financial liabilities

At amortized cost 32,601 33,528

Fair value through profit or loss 4,107 4,330

* Cash and cash equivalents comprised by $3.3 million deposits up to three months and $12.6 million cash (2013: $0.4million 
deposits up to three months and $13.4 million cash).

All fair value through profit or loss asset measurements are level 1 fair value measurements, defined as those derived from 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets.

All fair value through profit or loss liabilities measurements are level 3 fair value measurements, derived from net present 
value of royalties liability based on estimated future revenues.
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(d)  Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s Finance function provides services to the business, coordinates access to domestic and international financial 
markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports 
which analyses exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including currency risk, fair 
value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk. 

The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivatives only for economic hedging and does not apply 
hedge accounting. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the board of directors, 
which provide - principles on foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of financial derivatives and non-
derivative financial instruments, and the investment of excess liquidity. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is 
reviewed by the internal auditors on a continuous basis. 

 (e)  Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (refer to section 
f ) and interest rates (refer to section g). The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage 
its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, including: Structured deposits, call options and forward foreign 
exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the export of  telecommunications equipment to the United 
States.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the 
risk. 

(f )  Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate 
fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward foreign 
exchange contracts. 

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting 
date is as follows:

                            Liabilities                                  Assets

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

2014 
$’000s

2013 
$’000s

New Israeli Shekel 12,067 8,159 10,766 8,474

Euro 11,693 11,269 6,464 9,135

Other 2,011 4,020 10,219 11,741
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Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group is mainly exposed to Euro, NIS and MDL.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10 percent change in US$ against the respective foreign currencies in 
2014 (2013- 5 percent) The 10 percent is the rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity 
analysis of the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date has been determined based on the change 
taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period. A positive number 
indicates an increase in profit or loss and other equity where US$ strengthens against the respective currency. If US$ were 
to weaken by the same percentage against the respective currency there would be a similar but reverse impact on the 
profit or loss and equity as presented in the tables below. 

This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding USD receivables and payables at year end in the Group.

The Company engaged in financial instruments contract such as forward contracts, call and put options and structured 
instruments in order to manage foreign currencies exposure.

During the year the Company engaged in two financial instruments which resulted in $218 thousands recorded as finance 
expenses. (2013: one financial instruments resulted in $74 thousands recorded as finance income).

Profit or loss

Equity

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

NIS Impact (289) (109)

Euro  Impact 24 83

GBP Impact 1 119

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

NIS Impact 159 140

Euro  Impact (547) (203)

MDL Impact 474 197

Other currencies  Impact 346 70
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 (g)  Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest 
rates. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity this note.

The exposure to floating rate loans is not material.

(h)  Liquidity risk management

(i)  Finance liabilities

(j)  Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortized cost

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, 
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 
liabilities.

Loans from banks are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The difference between the fair value 
of the loans and their book value is not significant. 

(*) Part of the Bank loans are linked to a fix rate plus Libor or a fix rate plus Euribor.

The future Bank loan interest to be paid is $376 thousands

The fair value of the financial instruments of the Group carried at amortised cost is not considered to be materially different 
from the stated amortised cost.

Financial liabilities

Weighted 
average 

effective interest 
rate 0-3 months

3 months to 
1 year 1-5 years Total

% $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

31 December 2014

Non-interest bearing - 26,591 1,294 5,703 33,588

Bank loans interest bearing (*) 4.41 4,187 - 1,342 5,529

30,778 1,294 7,045 39,117

31 December 2013

Non-interest bearing - 28,857 843 6,560 36,260

Bank loans interest bearing (*) 4.27 2,608 50 1,858 4,516

31,465 893 8,418 40,776
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(k)  Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysies of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair 
value, grouped into Level 3 based on the degree to which their fair value is observable:

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the liabilities that are 
not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial liabilities - Government grants

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of Available for sale Investments carried at fair value- IBC

The liability was measured using the discounted cash flow (DCF) method. The discount rate used to measure the liability 
is 15%. If the discount rate decreased by 1% The liability will Increase by $124 thousands.

The assumptions the Company take into consideration for the calculation of the fair value measurements of the 
Government grants liabilities are based on two parameters:

1. Future forecast revenues for the next five years, for each year the forecast of the percentage of royalty-bearing revenues. 

2. Capitalised interest based on economic parameters in the market such as WACC and CAPM.

The Investment was measured using the discounted cash flow (DCF) method. The discount rate used to measure the 
Investment is12%.

If the discount rate Increase by 1% The investment will decreased by $2.4m. 

If the discount rate decrease by 1% The investment will increased by $3.2m

*During 2015 the Company paid the liability of $1.6m

Fair value through profit or loss 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Opening balance 4,269 4,625

Losses/(Gains) in profit or loss (299) 287

Received 837 115

Paid (879) (758)

Closing balance 3,927 4,269

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended 31 December

2014
$’000s

2013
$’000s

Opening balance 3,414 -

paid investment - 3,414

Unpaid investment* 1,607 -

Revaluation 473 -

Translation differences (200) -

Closing balance 5,294 3,414
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Note 39 - Non-cash transactions

Note 40 - Post balance sheet events

During the current year, the Group entered into the following non-cash investing and financing activities which are not 
reflected in the consolidated statement of cash flows:

Investment of the Group in Stanga and C.D.Tech amount of $802 thousands had not been paid in cash at the end of the 
reporting period. 

On January 2015, the Company signed an agreement with the Tax Authorities regarding the tax assessments in respect 
of the years 2007–2012, the total effect on the financial statements was $696 thousand interest expenses and $155 
thousands tax expenses (see also note 14).

During February 2015 the Group sold a building of offices that it owned in Kfar Netter for a consideration of $1.5m, the 
net capital gain was $0.5m.

During March 2015 the Company paid the liability of $1.6m with regards to the Investment in IBC (see also note 38).
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